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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning.

          3  And welcome to today's hearing on the Mayor's

          4  Executive Budget for Fiscal Year 2007.  My name is

          5  David Weprin.  I Chair the Council's Finance

          6  Committee.  This morning's first budget hearing is

          7  joint with the Council's Transportation Committee,

          8  Chaired by my colleague, Council Member John Liu, on

          9  my left as we review the proposed budgets of the

         10  MTA, the Department of Transportation, and the Taxi

         11  and Limousine Commission.  We will discuss, among

         12  other things, the MTA's takeover of the private

         13  franchise bus lines, including the total fiscal

         14  impact of the takeover, additional funding for the

         15  Staten Island Ferry Service, and the status of the

         16  upcoming auction of 308 taxi medallions.

         17                 We will then be joined by the

         18  Committee on General Welfare, Chaired by my

         19  colleague, Bill DeBlasio, as we review the proposed

         20  $2.44 billion budget of the Administration for

         21  Children's Services, ACS, and the proposed $696

         22  million budget of the Department of Homeless

         23  Services.

         24                 The Committee on Women's Issues,

         25  Chaired by my colleague Helen Sears, will be joining
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          2  us as well for the ACS portion of the hearing, at

          3  which time we will be requesting an update from ACS

          4  on spending for child protection initiatives

          5  announced earlier this year, which currently amounts

          6  to $16 million.  The Mayor has proposed to increase

          7  this amount to over $20 million in City, State, and

          8  Federal funds.  The Council is disappointed to see

          9  that the Mayor did not include $11 million in

         10  Council priorities, including Family Day Care slots,

         11  and the CONNECT program, a program which

         12  specifically addressees domestic violence at the

         13  community service level, in ACS's budget.

         14                 In regard to the Department of

         15  Homeless Services budget, this Committee will

         16  inquire about spends in shelter spending, in the

         17  context of a declining shelter census.  Again, we

         18  are frustrated to see the lack of $1 million in

         19  funding in the Executive Budget for Council

         20  priorities that prevent homelessness such as the

         21  adult  --  homelessness  --  such as the adult

         22  rental assistance program, and employment training

         23  through Project Renewal.

         24                 Before we adjourn today's budget

         25  hearings, the Finance Committee will be joined by
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          2  the Civil Rights Committee, Chaired by my colleague,

          3  Larry Seabrook, to hear testimony from the Human

          4  Rights Commission.

          5                 Before I turn over the mike to my Co-

          6  Chair John Liu, I just want to introduce the Members

          7  that are here.  We have our Minority Leader,

          8  Councilman Jim Oddo, from Staten Island.  Also from

          9  Staten Island, Councilman Andrew Lanza.  We have

         10  Councilman Dan Garodnick, from Manhattan.

         11  Councilwoman Helen Sears, from Queens.  Our Deputy

         12  Majority Leader, Councilman Leroy Comrie, from

         13  Queens.  Council Member Robert Jackson, from

         14  Manhattan.  And I'm going to turn it over to Co-

         15  Chair Liu.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         17  Chairman Weprin.  I want to thank you for your

         18  leadership in conducting all of the Finance

         19  Committee hearings, so that we can come up with the

         20  best possible budget for the upcoming fiscal year.

         21  I'm delighted to join you in Co- Chairing today's

         22   --  this portion of the Finance Committee hearing

         23  today.

         24                 We have a number of issues to talk

         25  about, as Chairman Weprin said.  We will hear from
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          2  representatives, officials of the Metropolitan

          3  Transportation Authority; the New York City

          4  Department of Transportation; and the New York City

          5  Taxi and Limousine Commission.  And I think we will

          6  just get under way.

          7                 Let me first apologize for my delay

          8  in getting here. I know everyone has a very busy

          9  schedule, so I will try to be as succinct and brief,

         10  and painless as always, as possible.  I'm very happy

         11  to see Mr. Lanigan and his illustrious associates

         12  here once again.

         13                 You know, a couple of the things that

         14  we will be focusing on today will be developments

         15  that have occurred since our March hearings, where

         16  we discussed the Preliminary Budget.  So we'll get

         17  to those.  And I suppose you have an opening

         18  statement to begin with?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've also been

         20  joined by Council Member Oliver Koppell, from the

         21  Bronx.

         22                 And if you could introduce your

         23  colleagues as well.

         24                 MR. LANIGAN: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Pull the mike
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          2  closer please.

          3                 MR. LANIGAN: Good morning Chairman

          4  Weprin, Chairman Liu and Committee Members.  My name

          5  is Gary Lanigan.  I'm the Director of Budgets and

          6  Financial Management at the Metropolitan

          7  Transportation Authority.  I'm joined today by

          8  Michael Chubak, the Acting Director of the Office of

          9  Management and Budget for New York City Transit on

         10  my left.  And Mr. Greg Kullberg, the MTA Director of

         11  Capital Programs, on my right.  I appreciate this

         12  opportunity to discuss the status of the MTA'S

         13  budget with you.

         14                 I'll make my remarks brief, since the

         15  MTA financial situation is relatively unchanged

         16  since I last appeared before you in March of this

         17  year.  Under the MTA's new budget practices, our

         18  financial plan is updated in February, and then

         19  again in July for the fiscal year that begins in

         20  January.  In February, the MTA released it's updated

         21  financial plan for the years 2006 through 2009, that

         22  included a financial budget for 2006, and a

         23  financial plan for seven through nine.

         24                 As I discussed back in March, the

         25  MTA's financial picture in 2006 is in relatively
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          2  good shape.  However, the MTA faces significant

          3  outyear operating budget deficits that need to be

          4  addressed.

          5                 Based on the last financial plan, MTA

          6  projected a cash surplus of $1 billion, $62 million

          7  for 2005.  The actual cash balance was $120 million

          8  higher, of which $62 million is timing of payments

          9  that will be made in 2006, as opposed to 2005.  The

         10  remaining $58 million will be an increase to the

         11  2005 surplus.

         12                 After accounting for the planned 2005

         13  surplus and other gap- closing and policy actions,

         14  the MTA projected a final net cash surplus for 2006

         15  of $217 million.  In 2007, eight, and nine, the MTA

         16  projected cash deficits of $154 million, $797

         17  million, and $934 million respectively.  These

         18  projected deficits are after implementation of gap

         19  closing actions which include five percent increase

         20  in yield from the fare and tolls in 2007 and 2009.

         21                 Other than normal growth in expenses

         22  due to inflation, the major portions of the

         23  projected deficits are caused by substantial growth

         24  in debt service costs, additional pension

         25  contributions, additional health and welfare benefit
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          2  costs, and the loss of nonrecurring subsidies,

          3  notably lower future yields from real estate taxes

          4  and one- time cash adjustments.

          5                 In fact, a recent report by State

          6  Comptroller Alan Hevesi echoes these very concerns.

          7  That spiraling costs of debt service, health and

          8  welfare obligations, and pension obligations will

          9  result in a significant deficit in 2008, less than

         10  20 months from now, and continuing thereafter.

         11                 As pointed out in the State

         12  Comptroller's report, and our monthly reports to the

         13  MTA Board, real estate revenues, particularly in the

         14  second quarter of 2006, continue to be stronger than

         15  expected.  Despite these short- term windfalls,

         16  extremely difficult decisions will need to be made

         17  by the MTA and the State on how to best meet the

         18  fiscal challenges that lie ahead, while ensuring

         19  that strides made in the last decade to improve

         20  service levels and maintain affordable fares and

         21  tolls for the users of the MTA network are not

         22  eroded.

         23                 We remain committed to finding cost

         24  savings in every aspect of every program under the

         25  MTA's control.  And the MTA has proposed actions
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          2  such as our reorganization legislation that would

          3  reap cost savings without harming service.  We are

          4  also pursuing a shared service initiative that will

          5  eliminate redundancies across our agencies in areas

          6  such as accounting and human resource

          7  administration.  These policies, as well as internal

          8  austerity plans begun in 2002, will help to offset

          9  these sizeable deficits predicted for 2008 through

         10  2009.

         11                 One of the reasons the MTA is able to

         12  effectively serve our customers is that we are

         13  constantly reinvesting in the system through our

         14  successive five- year capital programs.  These

         15  programs, approved by the State Legislator and

         16  Governor, will, by the year 2009, have provided over

         17  $70 billion for the renewal and enhancement of MTA's

         18  infrastructure since the inaugural capital program

         19  began in 1982.  It is these investments that have

         20  allowed the MTA to undergo a transformation from the

         21  days of constant delays and crimes, to our current

         22  safe, efficient, and reliable transportation

         23  network.

         24                 The Second Avenue Subway is an MTA

         25  expansion project that is both long overdue, and
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          2  vital to 21st century transportation network of the

          3  City of New York.  On it's first day of operation,

          4  it's estimated that the first segment of the Second

          5  Avenue Subway, traveling from 96th Street to 63rd

          6  Street, will service over 200,000 people, while

          7  offering the additional benefit of easing the

          8  overcrowding on the Lexington Line.

          9                 Since I last addressed the Committee,

         10  the MTA received approval from the Federal

         11  Transportation Administration to proceed into final

         12  design of this project.  This is an important step

         13  toward the full- funding grant agreement, which will

         14  allow the MTA to draw down significant Federal funds

         15  for the project.  The cost of the first phase of the

         16  Second Avenue Subway is estimated at $3.8 billion.

         17  We are also progressing on the East Side Access

         18  project, which will allow Long Island Railroad

         19  trains to access Grand Central Terminal.  We have

         20  awarded one of the largest tunneling contracts and

         21  expect the other to be awarded in June.

         22                 In addition, the MTA is continuing to

         23  contribute to the renewal of Lower Manhattan, by

         24  advancing the South Ferry Terminal and Fulton Street

         25  Center projects.  Both are in construction, and
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          2  targeted for completion in 2008 and 2009

          3  respectively.

          4                 Overall, the MTA finds itself in a

          5  stronger position than it did when I appeared before

          6  this Committee one year ago, and a slightly better

          7  condition than when I testified here two months ago.

          8    Of course, much more needs to be done to ensure

          9  the future financial security of the MTA.  And I

         10  look forward to working with our funding partners as

         11  we explore solutions to this problem.

         12                 Thank you for your opportunity to

         13  address you.  And I'm glad to answer any questions

         14  you have.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Mr.

         16  Lanigan.  I don't usually like to rely  --  and of

         17  course, I'm not relying on, I'm just raising the

         18  issue  --  on newspaper articles or what's reported

         19  in the press, because sometimes it's accurate, and

         20  other times, of course, it's not accurate.  But I

         21  was a little disturbed reading at its face, the

         22  article in yesterday's Daily News, which referred to

         23  hiring of outside counsel to the tune of I believe

         24  over you know, $500,000 to date, just from November

         25  through January. And I'm specifically referring to
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          2  the hiring of Proscower (phonetic) Rose.  One is,

          3  I'd like to ask you the status of that contract.

          4  Was that hiring of Proscower pursuant to an RFP?

          5  And if so, was there a cap on the fees?  And how

          6  much was spent to date?

          7                 MR. LANIGAN: Chairman, I'm not

          8  prepared to discuss that.  It was not one of the

          9  items that I had been briefed on by your staff.  But

         10  we'll be glad to get back to you on that.  We do use

         11  Proscower for specialized litigation, as we do

         12  several other firms.  But the specifics of how the

         13  contract was let, the value of the contract, et

         14  cetera, I'm not prepared to discuss that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, is it

         16  accurate that you know, in three months alone, about

         17  $500,000 was spent on Proscower's fees pursuant to

         18  the transit strike?

         19                 MR. LANIGAN: I, again, am not in a

         20  position to say that it is or is not.  I did see the

         21  article yesterday.  But I do not know whether the

         22  exact amounts are accurate or not accurate.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well when you saw

         24  the article, did it raise an issue that  --  well

         25  let me ask  --  is it true that some of the
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          2  attorneys in Proscower were billing at $540 an hour?

          3    Was that accurate?

          4                 MR. LANIGAN: Again, I have no reason

          5  to believe that it's not accurate.  But I've not

          6  reviewed the contract or been briefed on the details

          7  of the contract.  But I have no reason to believe

          8  that that's not accurate.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Is it safe

         10  to say than, if just between November and March

         11  alone, over $500,000 was spent, that to date, is

         12  probably over $1 million?  Would that be an accurate

         13  statement?

         14                 MR. LANIGAN: I couldn't  --  if you

         15  said $4 million, Mr. Chairman, I wouldn't be able to

         16  say whether it was accurate or not accurate.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well generally

         18   --  and I have this problem with City agencies as

         19  well, and when the Corporation Counsel was here

         20  testifying a couple of weeks ago, I specifically

         21  asked him, as I do each and every year, about the

         22  hiring of outside counsel, and they've made an

         23  effort to reduce the hiring of outside counsel.

         24  Obviously, there are conflict situations where

         25  certain cases can't be handled in house, but MTA
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          2  does have an extensive in house Legal Department, do

          3  they not?

          4                 MR. LANIGAN: That's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: About how many

          6  lawyers, would you say, MTA has in house?

          7                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm not sure, because we

          8  would have to include all of the railroad's, the

          9  Transit Authority, the MTA headquarters, so it's a

         10  sizeable number.  But I'm not sure what the exact

         11  number is.  Most of those would not be in the

         12  specific field of labor relations, however.  And

         13  that's what the article referred to.  We do have a

         14  number of small claims, slips and falls on subways

         15  by riders, et cetera.  So we do have a large Legal

         16  Department that would handle those type of issues,

         17  as opposed to large labor relations issues, which is

         18  a rather small department that handles that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: But the number of

         20  lawyers is in the hundreds, I would say, right?

         21                 MR. LANIGAN: Overall, yes.  For all

         22  types of lawsuits, yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And there's

         24  nobody on staff that has any expertise at all in

         25  labor relations?  No lawyers?
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN: We do have expertise in

          3  labor relations.  Our Director of Labor Relations,

          4  Mr. Delaverson (phonetic) is probably renowned

          5  throughout the country.  But yet, we still, as the

          6  City, would require some outside special  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, no.  I

          8  understand that.  But wouldn't it make sense to hire

          9  you know, among those 500 or so lawyers, or whatever

         10  the number is, to add a few labor relations lawyers

         11  in house, since clearly you know that you have an

         12  annual contract that expires every couple of years,

         13  and there are always issues relating to it?

         14  Wouldn't it makes sense for the MTA to look into

         15  hiring lawyers with some experience in labor

         16  relations?

         17                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes.  We can look into

         18  that.  I'm not sure that it would be cost efficient

         19  to keep them on board 365 days a year, whether a

         20  contract is being negotiated or not.  So there are

         21  times with specific issues, as I'm sure you're

         22  aware, that you would still want to reach out to the

         23  market and grab the best expertise that are

         24  available.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, would you be
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          2  able to provide me with how much MTA spends on

          3  outside counsel on an annual basis?  Could you

          4  provide the Committee that information?  And also,

          5  if you could let us know if there are RFP processes

          6  on an annual basis, every couple of years, or

          7  whether it's just ad hoc? But you believe Proscower

          8  was pursuant to an RFP?  Or was it just hired for

          9  their expertise in a --

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: I do know that an RFP

         11  for outside counsel was done three years ago, and

         12  that we plan to do that approximately every five

         13  years, to renew that.  But as we go forward, and

         14  specific issues arise, we do add firms to that list

         15  of contractors.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And who adds

         17  them?  I mean, who is in charge of that?

         18                 MR. LANIGAN: They're approved by our

         19  Board, by the MTA Board.  They're brought to the MTA

         20  Board, and a request is made, and an explanation as

         21  to why we feel they should be added.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Well I

         23  would just recommend, in light of your anticipated

         24  deficits in the outyears, specifically 2007 through

         25  2009, that this might be an area to look in long-
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          2  term planning, in saving money, since obviously,

          3  litigation can be very expensive.  And possibly one

          4  is, there are a number of firms in New York City,

          5  all five boroughs, but certainly in Manhattan, that

          6  would love to have a prestigious client like the

          7  MTA, and might obviously you know, be willing to

          8  compete, you know, more aggressively, if they had

          9  that opportunity, and obviously, when I see a

         10  government agency hiring private lawyers at $548 an

         11  hour, and you know, into the potential million

         12  dollars in fees, you know, it seems to me that

         13  that's an easy area where you know, somebody could

         14  be saved you know, to potentially reduce future

         15  deficits.  Would you agree with that?

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: I agree Councilman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Worth looking

         18  into?

         19                 MR. LANIGAN: It's worth looking into.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  I don't

         21  want to beat a dead horse.  But obviously, you know,

         22  it's something that you know, we in government are

         23  concerned about, and you know, it seems to be

         24  something that you know, in light of all the law

         25  firms, and the competition, that you know, it would
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          2  probably be  --  The other thing, is has MTA ever

          3  explored any kind of pro bono programs? Because I

          4  know a lot of the large law firms have pro bono

          5  programs where they look to do a certain amount of

          6  pro bono work, and you know, I know they've done

          7  work for the City pro bono.  Has MTA ever looked

          8  into  --

          9                 MR. LANIGAN: I believe we have.  I

         10  believe we have looked.  I don't know specifically

         11  what firms, but there are several instances where we

         12  in fact, team up with the City attorneys on specific

         13  issues, such as environmental issues.  The City and

         14  the MTA will hire outside law firm to represent both

         15  of us on issues such as energy rate increases, which

         16  are very, very specific, very targeted markets.  And

         17  again, you want the best qualified representation

         18  that you can find when you're entering those type

         19  cases, which can literally cost hundreds of millions

         20  of dollars.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Well I

         22  would recommend expanding and exploring that as

         23  well.

         24                 In your testimony, towards the end,

         25  you referred to the South Ferry Terminal and Fulton
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          2  Street Transit Center projects, and that they're

          3  both on target.  And I know there was a significant

          4  reimbursement from the Federal Transit

          5  Administration. I believe the number  --  I don't

          6  think you put it in your testimony  --  but I

          7  believe the number was about $750 million. Does that

          8  sound right?

          9                 MR. KULLBERG: The Fulton Street

         10  Transit Street Center budget at this point stands at

         11  about $799 million.  There's an additional reserve

         12  established by the FTA for the project of

         13  approximately $48 million.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  I know

         15  it's been a concern of a number of Council Members,

         16  including Councilman Alan Gerson, who is the Council

         17  Member from the Lower Manhattan area, as to the

         18  effect of small businesses, that were displaced.  I

         19  think it was about 150 small businesses.  Do you

         20  know if any of that money has gone directly to small

         21  businesses?  And if so, how has that been

         22  distributed?  And what percentage?

         23                 MR. KULLBERG: The $799 million budget

         24  doesn't include the cost for all the relocation of

         25  the tenants in the properties.  I can't tell you
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          2  exactly how much is allocated to that.  I can tell

          3  you that the MTA will scrupulously be following all

          4  Federal and State laws governing the relocation of

          5  tenants, and has hired an experienced team of

          6  consultants to ensure that the relocation process is

          7  fair and equitable and minimizes the impacts on the

          8  tenants.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  I'm just

         10  going to cover one more area, because I know

         11  Chairman Liu has a lot of follow up questions from

         12  his March Preliminary hearing.  And I don't want to

         13  monopolize the forum, but just the City Comptroller,

         14  Bill Thompson, recently did a study talking about

         15  the guidelines for City stations, and the fact that

         16  the MTA was supposed to paint a certain number of

         17  stations since 2001, and that has not taken place.

         18  And I know there was some formal response from the

         19  MTA where they recognized that there was some

         20  accuracy to the fact that some of these stations

         21  should have been painted but weren't.  Can you give

         22  us some kind of update as to what the status is of

         23  the painting of some of these stations?  And what's

         24  happened with that maintenance?

         25                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes Chairman.  The MTA,
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          2  as well as Metro North Railroad and Long Island

          3  Railroad responded to the City Comptroller audit.

          4  The audit covered the 26 stations that are covered

          5  by Long Island Railroad that are in New York City

          6  boundaries, as well as the 14 stations that are

          7  covered by Metro North in the City boundaries.

          8  Those stations, the City contributes to the

          9  maintenance of those stations, to the tune of $70-

         10  odd million annually.  The railroads operate a

         11  shell, just like all of the other operations within

         12  the agencies.  And their ability to maintain what

         13  they set as guidelines is really controlled by the

         14  size of their workforce and funding availability.

         15  With the agreement that we have for reimbursement,

         16  what we do is, we've been growing by regional CPI

         17  each year.  And these station maintenance costs are

         18  meant to not only pay for things like painting, but

         19  it's for renovations, graffiti removal, ticket

         20  vending machines, and other station maintenance-

         21  related costs.  Security would be a large one.

         22  These costs have obviously grown at greater than the

         23  CPI.  So the railroads, like everyone else, are

         24  trying to do more with less, and this is another

         25  area where they do that.
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          2                 There were one or two stations that

          3  there was an issue as to responsibility.  The Parks

          4  Department of New York City was responsible for the

          5  overhang on one of the stations.  That's been

          6  discussed with both the Parks Department and the

          7  Comptroller. And the Racing Authority, I think it

          8  is, was responsible for another.  Other than that,

          9  there is overall agreement in the findings of the

         10  report, as well as the guidelines.  Many of the

         11  particular findings were corrected.  Negative

         12  findings were corrected.  Painting in particular is

         13  a problem.  What the railroads are doing is focusing

         14  primarily on graffiti removal and over- covering

         15  obscene language that may be scrawled on a wall.

         16                 So some areas  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Councilman

         18  Vallone joined us at the right time, because he's

         19  our graffiti maven.

         20                 MR. LANIGAN: Good morning Councilman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And Councilman

         22  Eric Gioia as well, another anti- graffiti crusader.

         23  And we've also been joined by Council Member Diana

         24  Reyna, from Brooklyn and Queens.

         25                 MR. LANIGAN: So as the railroads are
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          2  spending more of their resources trying to cover

          3  over the obscene language or graffiti, it does

          4  detract from their ability to maintain a guideline

          5  on a strict sense.  So they are attempting to

          6  address this as best as possible.  But like

          7  everything else, it's a tradeoff of resources.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  But you

          9  recognize of course, by not doing the regular

         10  painting, sometimes it results in longer costs in

         11  the end, having to you know, repair you know, major

         12  problems that develop at a later date, as opposed to

         13  if the regular maintenance have been done all along.

         14                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes, we agree with that.

         15    And there has been a significant capital

         16  investment in several of these stations also.  But

         17  again, when you come back to the maintenance, it

         18  comes right back to the broken window- type theory,

         19  that if we leave the graffiti or the foul language

         20  left visible for any length of time, it sets a tone

         21  that there is lack of interest in the area, and it

         22  just continues to deteriorate.  So again, we agree

         23  with the priority that the railroads are setting,

         24  which is to cover over the graffiti and the foul

         25  language first, then address the areas where you
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          2  have peeling paint, and then full paint cycles, and

          3  then restorations and capital improvements.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you

          5  Mr. Lanigan. Just one last question.  You touched in

          6  your testimony on the Second Avenue Subway and the

          7  East Side Access.  Obviously, we're all happy to see

          8  the bond act passage, which I think made it possible

          9  for the Second Avenue Subway to finally go ahead.

         10  But can you tell us is there a problem with the East

         11  Side Access project and the Second Avenue project

         12  proceeding together?  And would one delay the other?

         13    Or can you give us some kind of progress on the

         14  interaction between the two?

         15                 MR. LANIGAN: Let me let Mr. Kullberg

         16  address that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Sure.

         18                 MR. KULLBERG: The short answer is no.

         19    These projects are funded separately.  The

         20  earmarks, the Federal earmarks for them are

         21  established separately.  And they're budgeted over

         22  three consecutive capital programs separately.

         23  They're both proceeding at the pace that they were

         24  designed to proceed.  Second Avenue just received

         25  you know, to go into final design, which they are
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          2  doing now.  And we're on target to award the first

          3  tunneling contract for that project before the end

          4  of the year.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So if you had to

          6  guess when the Second Avenue Subway would be finally

          7  up and running, what year would you predict?

          8                 MR. KULLBERG: Yes, 2013 is the  --

          9  for phase one, it's the northern phase of $3.8  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So 2013?

         11                 MR. KULLBERG: Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And for the East

         13  Side Access?

         14                 MR. KULLBERG: A similar date.  I

         15  think one year ahead, 2012.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Not too

         17  many of us will be here in the Council, but you

         18  never know.  But we'll obviously you know, keep that

         19  in mind.  I'm going to turn it over to my Co Chair,

         20  Chair Liu.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Chairman

         22  Weprin.  I want to thank the three gentlemen here

         23  once again, and their terrific staff for being here.

         24    I know that we had a good hearing in mid March.  I

         25  can't believe that it's already been ten weeks.
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          2  Time goes, when you're having fun.

          3                 But even in these ten weeks,  --

          4  some days are more fun than others.  Today is going

          5  to be fun.  --  In these past ten weeks, there have

          6  been a number of developments that I think are worth

          7  pointing out.  First and foremost, the  --  I want

          8  to congratulate all of you, and the MTA, and

          9  actually all New Yorkers, for the approval by the

         10  feds for the go- ahead on the Second Avenue Subway.

         11  I think that's a tremendous accomplishment on the

         12  part of the MTA.  The fact that you went out there

         13  and campaigned for the --  well, I can't say that.

         14  You encouraged people to understand the importance

         15  of the bond act, that would then lead to Federal

         16  funding.  I think that's very important, and that's

         17  to your credit.               Now, one of the

         18  projects that's also been announced in the last ten

         19  weeks, rather quickly and unexpectedly, is a project

         20  that I believe all my colleagues, certainly I

         21  support, and that is the construction of a new Metro

         22  North station at Yankee Stadium.  That's a great,

         23  great project.  And they deserve to have that in

         24  that neighborhood, and it's an expansion of the

         25  commuter rail line that will be a direct benefit to
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          2  City residents as well.            Now the question

          3  comes, where that money is going to come from.  So

          4  where is  --  how are we going to pay for the Metro

          5  North station at Yankee Stadium?  Quick answers will

          6  be highly appreciated.  Could you introduce yourself

          7  for the record?

          8                 MR. KULLBERG: Yes.  My name is Greg

          9  Kullberg.  I'm Director of MTA Capital Programs.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  And

         11  please pull the mike a little closer.

         12                 MR. KULLBERG: Sorry.  The MTA Board

         13  of Directors has allocated $40 million, funds from

         14  the discontinued LaGuardia project, and has

         15  submitted that in the form of an amendment to the

         16  Capital Program Reserve Board, who is considering it

         17  now.  The clock for that consideration actually ends

         18  at midnight tonight, so you will know tomorrow.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's 2006.  And

         20  we're well underway into the 2005 to 2009 Capital

         21  Plan.  In fact, we spent a greater deal amount of

         22  time last year, in this Committee and in these joint

         23  Committees talking about the five- year Capital

         24  Plan.  And subsequently, at hearings about the bond

         25  issue, again talking about how the bonds were an
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          2  important part of that Capital Plan.  So we're well

          3  into the '05 to '09 Capital Plan.  Now this Capital

          4  Reserve, the unused money that you're talking about

          5  from the LaGuardia Rail Link, is that part of the

          6   '05 to '09 Capital Plan?

          7                 MR. KULLBERG: No.  It's funds that

          8  are allocated within the 2000 to 2004 Capital

          9  Program.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So  --  you know  --

         11    as much as I personally support the Yankee Stadium

         12  Metro North Station, how do we all of a sudden have

         13  tens of millions of dollars to pull out of thin air?

         14    It's amazing.

         15                 MR. KULLBERG: Well I wouldn't

         16  describe it as thin air, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Who really knows

         18  about this unused hidden money at the MTA?

         19                 MR. KULLBERG: The funds for this

         20  project are very clearly budgeted within the '04

         21  Capital Program.  It's subject to regular  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Why, in 2005, when

         23  you are about -  when you are developing the '05 to

         24   '09 Capital Plan, do you not consider monies that

         25  are left over from the previous five- year Capital
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          2  Plan, that are definitely not going to be used,

          3  because the project, in this case, the LaGuardia

          4  Rail Link, has been scrapped?

          5                 MR. KULLBERG: Well as you know, the

          6  funds, in fact, have been used.  And they've been

          7  allocated on several occasions now, to you know,

          8  high- priority important projects that are of great

          9  benefit to the City  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What do you mean,

         11  that the funds have been used?  How much is left

         12  over that's unused?

         13                 MR. KULLBERG: There's about $212

         14  (million) that is left over.  The first chunk of it,

         15  as you know, is allocated to buying 846 buses for

         16  the MTA Bus Company.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well that was an

         18  announcement made by Mayor Bloomberg and Governor

         19  Pataki on April 19th, of 2004, when the MTA agreed

         20  to take over the private bus companies by July 1,

         21  2004.  And they were going to use $322.5 million

         22  that was unused from the LaGuardia Rail Link

         23  project, which had been scrapped, for the purchase

         24  of those new buses for the takeover for the MTA.

         25  Now you know, I think we might have missed something
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          2  here in this Committee, but we didn't realize that

          3  there was another $322.5 million that was, I guess,

          4  apparently allocated by the State.  But at that

          5  point, sitting in the MTA.  There have been no

          6  mention of the other $322 million.  In fact, it's

          7  this other $322 million that you're drawing from to

          8   --  Michelle is shaking her head.  Please, refute

          9  this.  Please.

         10                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: The LaGuardia project

         11  was always a $645 million project.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Michelle, could you

         13  identify yourself for the record?

         14                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: Michelle Goldsteen,

         15  Director of Government Affairs at the MTA. I was

         16  just thinking to myself as you were speaking, that

         17  the LaGuardia project was funded in the 2000 to 2004

         18  Program at $645 million, which is the $322 and a

         19  half times two.  So it was always funded at that

         20  amount.  And I'm sure you're correct on your date of

         21  the Mayor Bloomberg's announcement to spend the

         22  first $322.5.  And there was this other $322.5

         23  million.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At that point, was

         25  it not obvious that the other $322.5 million was not
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          2  going to be spent on the LaGuardia Rail Link?

          3                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: Yes. The LaGuardia

          4  project had been discontinued.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  And that's in

          6  2004.  So in the months leading up to the

          7  development of the '05 to '09 Capital Plan, why

          8  would you leave $322 million in this unused fund

          9  that by then, admittedly, a lot of people had

         10  forgotten about?  Why would you leave that money

         11  there?

         12                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: Well, back in

         13  September, $70 million was actually used to fund the

         14  balance of the third depot on Staten Island.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The what?

         16                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: The balance of the

         17  funds for the third depot on Staten Island, the

         18  Charleston Depot, $70 million of that money was used

         19  for that.  That was in September of this year. And

         20  now, the $40 million for Yankee Stadium.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, but you see,

         22  the problem here is that  --  and we know that

         23  capital priorities change.  And some things come up

         24  at the last minutes, such as the Metro North Station

         25  at Yankee Stadium, which we all support.  And so, at
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          2  some point, re- jiggering (sic) of even a five- year

          3  Capital Plan needs to be done.  But the problem that

          4  we have with this is that last March, Mr. Lanigan,

          5  you and your distinguished associates sat in front

          6  of this Committee, and testified about a $17.1

          7  billion core Capital Plan that was absolutely

          8  essential to keep the system in a state of good

          9  repair.  Exactly a month after that, the State

         10  Legislature came up with the portion of the core

         11  Capital Budget that was about a billion dollars

         12  short.  You then announced that cancellation of 12

         13  subway station renovations, because you were short

         14  for those subway station renovations about $420

         15  million or so.  Why would you leave $300 million on

         16  the table?  Left unused and somewhat hidden from the

         17  public from the previous Capital Plan?  Why didn't

         18  you just put that money and plug this gap that the

         19  Legislature left you with?

         20                 Is there any good reason why you

         21  would leave $300 million left over from the previous

         22  five- year Capital Plan, and not highlight it, not

         23  add it to the new Capital Plan, which we are in the

         24  second year of already?  Why would you leave that

         25  money there?             MS. GOLDSTEEN: I guess all
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          2  I could say is that it was absolutely not hidden.

          3  It was very inside of our '04 program, this

          4  LaGuardia project.  And we were open about it when

          5  we funded the bus company, and we were open about it

          6  when we funded the Staten Island depot.  And we're

          7  open about it again as we go forward on the Yankee

          8  Stadium project.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Every year, there

         10  are revisions, revisions, and revisions to the five-

         11  year Capital Plan.  You know, I think any reasonable

         12  person, even the most astute, the most meticulous

         13  analysts going through the MTA books, it would have

         14  been reasonable for them to assume that while gee,

         15  the LaGuardia Rail Link project had been cancelled a

         16  long time ago, and in fact, a large chunk of it, you

         17  know, we thought all of it, had been redirected

         18  towards the use of the MTA  --  for the MTA takeover

         19  of the private bus companies.  But to just leave

         20  $300 million in there for the MTA Board to decide at

         21  its own discretion how to deal with that money.

         22  It's not a small, insignificant amount of funds that

         23  get caught up in the rounding.  It's $300 million

         24  that could have been used to plug the capital  --

         25  to plug the gap in the new Capital Plan that was
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          2  being developed.  And yet, the MTA just left it

          3  there.  That is absolutely unacceptable and

          4  unconscionable.  It smacks of having a slush fund on

          5  the side for the MTA.

          6                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: Just one point.  The

          7  MTA Board can, at its discretion, spend that money,

          8  even though we would like right now, let's say, to

          9  spend $40 million on Yankee Stadium, I'm waiting

         10  until midnight to see if the MTA's Capital Program

         11  Review Board, which has representatives of the

         12  Senate Majority Leader, the Assembly Speaker, the

         13  Governor, and Mayor on it.  So there's absolutely

         14   --  you can't spend that capital money at the MTA

         15  Board's own discretion.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Nonetheless, the MTA

         17  Board has a tremendous amount of power in deciding

         18  how to direct that money. And when we're just at the

         19  beginning  --  you know, even at the development

         20  stages of the new five- year Capital Plan, it is

         21  just ridiculous that the MTA would leave $300

         22  million from the previous Capital Plan that it knows

         23  is not going to be spent.  It's just  -- there is

         24  absolutely no reason.  And when we talk about how

         25  the MTA is becoming more and more transparent in its
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          2  finances, getting away from the allegations of

          3  double sets of books from a few years ago, let me

          4  tell you, having this $300 million hidden, and

          5  basically usable at the discretion of the MTA Board,

          6  that does not give the public more confidence that

          7  the MTA is truly trying to become more transparent.

          8                 MR. KULLBERG: Sir, I would suggest

          9  that the allocation and the budgeting of those funds

         10  are absolutely transparent.  The Capital Plans go

         11  through a very public board review process, on which

         12  there are City representatives.  It goes through the

         13  State Legislative process.  It's absolutely

         14  transparent.  Those funds were  --  everybody knows

         15  those funds were there  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: There is absolutely

         17  no reason, no responsible reason why that $300

         18  million left over from the previous five- year

         19  Capital Plan was not already incorporated into the

         20  new Capital Plan, that the MTA and all of the great

         21  staff there put a lot of tremendous  --  a lot of

         22  work and effort into developing.  To leave $300

         23  million on the table  --  you know, you may say it's

         24  transparent.  It is somewhat like looking for a

         25  needle in a haystack.  But it is not the responsible
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          2  thing to do.  So again, let's be more transparent

          3  going to the future.

          4                 I just have one other question for

          5  the MTA.  And this is also a development that came

          6  up since the Preliminary Budget hearings in March.

          7  And that is that the Board apparently approved an

          8  extra $80 million for the Lockheed Martin contract.

          9  Are you aware of that?

         10                 MR. KULLBERG: Yes.  It's not an extra

         11  $80 million, the funds are included within the $591

         12  million security program established by the Board in

         13  December of 2002.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But the MTA first

         15  announced that it would be awarding this  --  the

         16  MTA first announced that it would award a $212

         17  million contract for Lockheed Martin for the purpose

         18  of installing thousands of cameras throughout the

         19  subway system, and having a kind of artificial

         20  intelligence system that would have computers

         21  identify what was going on what was going on on

         22  these cameras.  That was announced in August.  It

         23  was later approved in the Fall by the Board.  That's

         24  $212 million.

         25                 MR. KULLBERG: That's correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Now, last month, the

          3  MTA approved an additional $80 million.  That was

          4  not anticipated for the purpose of this Lockheed

          5  Martin contract.

          6                 MR. CHUBAK: I'm not sure that's true.

          7    I believe it's a follow- on contract of the scope

          8  that was originally included, but again, we're

          9  drifting into matters that might be better for other

         10  representatives of the MTA to answer.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, I think  --

         12  according to  -- you know, for the last three years,

         13  and we've always talked about the MTA's terror-

         14  proofing budget, the terror- proofing efforts for

         15  the subway system, and the budgets of the purpose of

         16  doing that. We discuss them every time in these

         17  budget hearings in these Committees, because the MTA

         18  saw it fit to proudly announce the $600 million

         19  allocation back in 2003.  And obviously, the problem

         20  has been that people are wondering why it's taking

         21  so long.

         22                 So the question is  --  so are you

         23  saying that you don't know anything about the $80

         24  million additional that was allocated to the

         25  Lockheed Martin?
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          2                 MR. CHUBAK: I am suggesting that  --

          3  I'm not really prepared to talk about it in this

          4  forum.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: How about anybody

          6  else at the panel.

          7                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: I'll tell you  --  I

          8  don't have the stuff in front of me, but my

          9  understanding is the same as Greg's, which is that

         10  the $80 million was always considered to be another

         11  phase of the contract on electronic security.  And I

         12  think it had to do with command centers.  Am I right

         13  on that?  And that's what I know.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Actually, according

         15  to the documents that the MTA kindly provided us

         16  with, it seemed like it was not an additional phase,

         17  but rather, an expansion of scope for the Lockheed

         18  Martin contract.

         19                 MR. CHUBAK: It's not an expansion of

         20  scope of the security initiatives that were

         21  originally planned and budgeted in December of 2002.

         22    I think that's the important point.

         23                 MR. LANIGAN: Chairman, we'd be glad

         24  to have our Director of Security prepare a response

         25  for you on specifically what that $80 million is
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          2  for.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm not asking what

          4  the  -- specifically and exactly what the $80

          5  million was for.  And I appreciate what Mr. Chubak

          6  just said, that it's not an expansion of scope from

          7  the original  --  what the MTA originally envisioned

          8  in late 2002, early 2003 with regard to terror-

          9  proofing the subway system.  The question here

         10  though is why, just a few months later, after

         11  awarding the Lockheed Martin contract at $212

         12  million, did the MTA have to expand the scope by an

         13  additional $80 million to include a command center?

         14  Why wasn't the command center thought necessary,

         15  deemed necessary in the first go- around?  Now I  --

         16    I can suggest a theory.

         17                 MR. LANIGAN: Again Councilman, the

         18  $591 million was more than a placeholder.  It

         19  identified certain projects that would be done.   But

         20  that was only a small subset of projects that need

         21  to be done.  That's why you'll see in our '05 to '09

         22  Capital Program, there is additional assumption for

         23  additional security funding of another $400- odd

         24  million.  So security is something that is A, taken

         25  very seriously; and B, is an expensive proposition.
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          2  And it is not something that we are trying to do

          3  overnight  We're trying to do it correct first time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We keep hearing

          5  that.  That the MTA doesn't want  --  the MTA

          6  doesn't want to rush into making the wrong

          7  judgement.  That it's taking a long time because

          8  it's complicated, and the MTA needs to study

          9  everything to make sure it works, because we

         10  wouldn't want to make the wrong decision.

         11                 Here however, it seems like a hasty

         12  decision was made.  A hasty decision made in August

         13  of 2005, shortly after the London bombings, where

         14  there was a great deal of pressure for the MTA to

         15  show something tangible.  Some form of tangible

         16  progress being made towards terror- proofing the

         17  subway system.  And so a $212 million contract was

         18  signed, and then later approved by the Board?  Even

         19  though it was questionable that that technology was

         20  the best to go with.  Since the London transit

         21  officials had rejected that very same, that very

         22  same technology.  The $212 million itself being

         23  about ten percent more than the MTA was

         24  anticipating, there being questions about whether

         25  there is truly an open, competitive bidding process
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          2  leading up to the $212 million contract.  And then

          3  now, we see about four or five months later, an

          4  expansion of the contract by $80 million, supposedly

          5  for a command center.  It's hard to fathom why, with

          6  3,000 cameras and an artificial intelligence

          7  detection system, why a command center was not

          8  envisioned in the first go- around.

          9                 MR. LANIGAN: It's not the envisioning

         10  Councilman. Again, it was the prioritization of

         11  funding.  We were originally working within an

         12  envelope of funding, and we have been trying to

         13  patch together additional funding to supplement that

         14  envelope.

         15  There has been some $60 million of operating capital

         16  that's being transferred to that $591 million that

         17  you're talking about to supplement the funding that

         18  was originally there.  So the  --  we do have a

         19  direction that we're heading in.  We do have an

         20  envelope for funding that we're working within, and

         21  there are prioritizations that we have some of the

         22   --  if not vague, we certainly have some of the

         23  best security folks in the world.  Our Director, Mr.

         24  Morange (phonetic), was the Chief of Patrol Services

         25  for New York City.  And we just added Mr. Shallero
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          2  (phonetic) from the FBI for the region.   So we have

          3  some of the best security folks in the world.  These

          4  are people that are not looking to spend money

          5  quickly.  They're looking to spend it wisely.  And

          6  they're setting priorities with some of the best

          7  consultants in the world.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Unfortunately, it

          9  seems, from certain points of view, that even with

         10  all these great experts, that not only have they

         11  taken their time, but they've also not necessarily

         12  made the best decisions.  We'll be continuing to

         13  monitor this situation.  I want to thank you for

         14  coming today to answer the questions.

         15                 We have a number of colleagues who

         16  are  --  who have questions.  Unfortunately, we have

         17  two concurrent lists that have been developed.  And

         18  so we'll ask our colleagues to give us some patience

         19  here as we go through the list.

         20                 I believe Councilman Oddo was the

         21  first.  No?  Okay. Council Member Helen Sears.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you Mr.

         23  Chair.  Good morning Mr. Lanigan.  It's good to see

         24  you and your colleagues again.  I have two

         25  questions.  The first one though  --  and they're
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          2  short  --  is that the Easy Pass has removed that

          3  dollar fee per month.  I don't know if it's

          4  effective in June.

          5                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: June 1st.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I don't think

          7  it's started. Maybe June.  My question is, one, how

          8  many subscribers are there to Easy Pass?  Over a

          9  million?  Approximately?

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes.  I believe it's

         11  above 75 percent of the users, if not higher, are

         12  using the Easy Pass now.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So that's $1

         14  million a month that they were getting when they

         15  imposed that dollar fee?

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: I know the annual is  --

         17    the annual loss of revenue that we will have to

         18  make up based on this will be some $15 million a

         19  year.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Per year.  How

         21  do you propose to do that?  And you're talking about

         22  how in the outer years, eight, that you will be

         23  having a very serious deficit.

         24                 MR. LANIGAN: We'll be addressing that

         25  in our July program.  We are working with the
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          2  various agencies right now. Transit Authority,

          3  TriBorough Bridge and Tunnel, and the railroads.

          4  They are developing their programs for submission to

          5  the Executive Director this week.  By July, we will

          6  present a budget that will address 2007, and then

          7  the four- year plan as well.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So then, how

          9  you address that loss each year, they're working on

         10  it now.

         11                 MR. LANIGAN: That's correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So there are

         13  several possibilities?  In terms of the fare box?

         14                 MR. LANIGAN: There are possibilities

         15  across the  -- within TriBorough Bridge and Tunnel,

         16  and across the MTA.  There are similar situations

         17  that we've had in each of the agencies where we've

         18  had some very positive news in our financial plan,

         19  and for our revenues.  We've also had some

         20  financially disappointing news, such as the dollar

         21  fee being revoked.  There have been some court

         22  decisions concerning OPTO, which we'll have to abide

         23  by those also, and that will have a cost to the MTA

         24  budget.  So we will be addressing those in July  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Will you keep
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          2  the Transportation Committee abreast of exactly what

          3  your decision is on how you do that?  Mr. Chairman,

          4  I think that is something that needs to be watched.

          5  They'll do that.

          6                 My second question is, I have to

          7  concur with the Chair of the Transportation

          8  Committee, because I think you've heard me many,

          9  many times in a Transportation Committee about your

         10  security.  And the fact that I now ride the subways,

         11  and you hear me say that very often.  And I have

         12  been in sub levels and sub levels, and I could tell

         13  you, I wouldn't want to be down there if I had to

         14  depend on security that is not there.  So I know

         15  that there probably has been a great deal of work

         16  that's going on, but I can tell you, I don't think

         17  you are anywhere near where you should be since

         18  2001.  And it can only be for two reasons.  Either

         19  you have the fiscal lack of dollars in which to do

         20  this.  Or there isn't enough staff to do this.  Or

         21  it is not the number one priority, which I think it

         22  is.  I could tell you, I worked at 275 Madison, and

         23  I cut through Grand Central.  I did all the time.  I

         24  think that a lay person could point out to you every

         25  place in Grand Central where an attack could happen,
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          2  and you wouldn't even know what I was doing.  I

          3  don't call that great security.  When we can

          4  identify those places.  And the manpower that's in

          5  there is very little.

          6                 So I don't feel that the security is

          7  moving at the speed at which it should.  And I can

          8  only think that since you have been shifting dollars

          9  from one major capital to another, and certainly

         10  East Side Access, which has been going on for a long

         11  time, has absorbed a great deal of your capital, and

         12  I recognize that you cannot stop that.  How much is

         13  left in the budget for security?  And how much

         14  residuals do you have from the money that came from

         15  the airport access when it was to LaGuardia Airport

         16  in Councilman Vallone's district, and it wasn't

         17  used.  And I know you were doing that to acquire

         18  buses in the transition.  So I don't know how much

         19  of that you are allowed to do, and shift over into

         20  security.  Particularly, I do recall that in the

         21  Transportation Committees, one of the things that

         22  was raised, was command centers. As the Chair of the

         23  Transportation Committee raised.  So it wasn't the

         24  first time that this issue came up today.  It had

         25  been discussed many of the meetings that
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          2  Transportation had.  And I served on that Committee

          3  for four years.

          4                 MR. LANIGAN: On the last point,

          5  you're absolutely correct.  And I don't think anyone

          6  at the table has said that has not been discussed in

          7  the past.  You're absolutely correct.  That has been

          8  discussed by your Chairman and your Committee with

          9  folks at this table.

         10                 MR. KULLBERG: Command and Control has

         11  always been a part of the MTA's security program

         12  from the get- go.  So it's not a new issue, it's not

         13  a Johnny- Come- Lately.  It's always been there. I

         14  think you should  --  it's also important to note

         15  that at the end of 2005, that the MTA Board

         16  allocated an additional $100 million for security

         17  initiatives, which are going to be allocated to both

         18  heavy capital initiatives and a lot of smaller

         19  initiatives that are important for the safety of the

         20  riders, including additional CCTV, emergency slam

         21  gate releases, seat locks for the subway cars.  And

         22  the MTA's security program is much larger than just

         23  the stuff you see in the Capital Program.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: No, I

         25  understand that.
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          2                 MR. KULLBERG: There's a very large

          3  operating initiatives that go to small scale

          4  protective initiatives.  You know, fencing,

          5  surveillance, and items like that.  And there's a

          6  lot of stuff going on in the stations that you've

          7   --  that aren't transparent and visible to the

          8  passengers they walk through it, in terms of certain

          9  kinds of chemicals and other types of detection. So

         10  there's more going on that may meet the eye of a

         11  casual passenger traveling through a station.  And I

         12  think at this point in time, the core Capital

         13  Security program will be at its full commitment

         14  level by June, and we'll be  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: June of what

         16  year?

         17                 MR. KULLBERG: June of this year.  And

         18  we will be then moving on to the next phase of the

         19  program, utilizing the support of the additional

         20  $100 million, plus the money that we're going to be

         21  securing through the Department of Homeland Security

         22  and other Federal sources.  It's important I think,

         23  that last year, last time I was here, I reported

         24  that the Department of Homeland Security had

         25  announced that it's going to be shifting its focus
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          2  to higher density, higher risk cities.  And just

          3  recently, I was told by the Director of Security,

          4  who just came back from a conference in San

          5  Francisco, the 2006 allocations of DHS funds, in

          6  fact, will reflect that kind of shifting priorities.

          7    So we're expecting even more I think, than the

          8  $150 million that I had indicated in March, when I

          9  spoke to you against the '05- '09 allocation.

         10                 So the program, I think there is some

         11  fair criticism in terms of the start of the program.

         12    But it's robust, and from my viewpoint, very, very

         13  effective.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: How much was

         15  allocated for new buses during the  --  for the

         16  transfer from the airport access monies?

         17                 MR. KULLBERG: From the airport access

         18  funds itself, there was  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEAR: To LaGuardia,

         20  because you've got one that's still going on.

         21                 MR. KULLBERG: To LaGuardia, the

         22  original allocation was $322.5 million.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That was $22.5?

         24                 MR. KULLBERG: Three hundred and

         25  twenty- two  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Three hundred

          3  twenty- five  --

          4                 MR. KULLBERG: Which was one half of

          5  the LaGuardia funds.  To which we added another $132

          6  (million) of Federal funds, which will be

          7  transferred from the City of New York to that pot,

          8  and an additional contribution by the City of New

          9  York in terms of its Federal share.  So we have

         10  about $467 million in the old program, and then

         11  we'll be getting an additional stream of funding for

         12   '05- '09, which will add another $138 million of

         13  funds, which will be allocated mostly to

         14  infrastructure and facilities improvements.  So we

         15  have a total of about $605 million for the MTA Bus

         16  Company between the two programs.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Of the monies

         18  allocated for the buses, the capital  --  how many

         19  buses would that take, over what period of time?

         20  Because I know it takes about a year to get a new

         21  bus.

         22                 MR. KULLBERG: The final delivery of

         23  the buses that we have on order now I believe are in

         24  2007.  June of 2007.  That will be the local buses,

         25  which we just ordered and are starting delivery.
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          2  We've received 317 of the express buses.  They're

          3  already on the property and running.  And we have

          4  another 59 which are being delivered.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So then you see

          6  by the year 2007 that you will sort of be depleted

          7  for the allocation of the buses.  And that will be

          8  complete.  Do you see  --

          9                 MR. KULLBERG: Well there's another

         10  order of about 186 that will we will make as soon as

         11  the Federal funds are freed up.  There's some

         12  Congressional legislation that has to occur first,

         13  which is I believe happening hopefully imminently.

         14  And then we'll order another 186 buses.  And as soon

         15  as we can order them, we'll get those delivered.  I

         16  wouldn't know what the exact  --  I mean it takes

         17  about a year and a half or so from initial order to

         18  get them delivered.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Your plans in

         20  all of the acquisition for the buses, will that

         21  complete the monies that were shifted from the

         22  airport access to LaGuardia airport?

         23                 MR. KULLBERG: It will deplete those

         24  funds as well as the Federal money.  There is a

         25  small allocation within that $467 million which will
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          2  be dedicated to facilities improvements.  And in

          3  addition, there's $138 million in the '05- '09

          4  program of Federal funds which will be allocated

          5  mostly to upgrading the many facilities of the

          6  private buses, which are substandard now.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.  And

          8  Mr. Chair, if I can just request that the Committee

          9  keep an eye on how they are going to make up that

         10  $12 million a year from the taking away of that one

         11  dollar.  Thank you very much.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         13  Sears.  Council Member Lanza.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you Mr.

         15  Chairman.

         16                 A bit parochial if I might.  I heard

         17  mention of the $70 million funding for the

         18  Charleston Depot in Staten Island.  I was just

         19  wondering where we are with respect to that project.

         20

         21                 MR. KULLBERG: The environmental work

         22  and design is underway now.  And we expect the depot

         23  to be completed end of 2008. Sorry.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: I'm sorry.

         25  What was that?
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          2                 MR. KULLBERG: End of 2008 is when we

          3  expect completion of the Depot.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: 2008.  Three

          5  and a half years ago, when there was the issue of

          6  whether or not  --  I had made my suggestion that

          7  that was perhaps not the appropriate place for the

          8  depot, and that there was a more appropriate site

          9  down the road, and what the MTA said at that time

         10  was that they were too far down the road to change

         11  gears, and that the suggestion that we should move

         12  the sight would jeopardize the project.  And when I

         13  pressed further, I was told that what being "down

         14  the road" meant was that the environmental work had

         15  already been done.  And that was three and a half

         16  years ago.  And I was told then that given the

         17  choice between a better location or no location, I

         18  would take you know, a not- so- appropriate location

         19  or no location, I'd call the MTA's bluff, and agreed

         20  to support the project happening there.  And at the

         21  time, again, this is three and a half years ago, I

         22  was told that construction would begin within 90

         23  days.  And again, to hear that we're still doing

         24  environmental work, when three and a half years ago

         25  I was told it was done is a bit shocking to me.
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          2                 And thereafter, two years ago, at a

          3  hearing like the one we sit at today, I was told

          4  that the funding had slipped out mysteriously from

          5  the budget, and that was the holdup then.  In fact,

          6  the environmental work was still done, design was

          7  still in the can, but that it was a funding issue

          8  all of a sudden, again.

          9                 So now I hear that the $70 million is

         10  there.  I'm encouraged, but of course, still very

         11  cynical based on past experience with the MTA on

         12  Staten Island.  Especially when money slips in and

         13  slips out.  So with all due respect, we were given a

         14  commitment that this was to begin.  And the answer

         15  that you just gave just doesn't make sense, given

         16  the fact that that work was supposed to have been

         17  done.

         18                 MR. KULLBERG: Well I don't know if I

         19  can speak to all those points of history, I do know

         20  that intake capital programs have been carrying for

         21  some time, $30 million for this project, to which we

         22  just recently added another $70 (million) and

         23  there's also an earmark, as you are aware of, which

         24  will bring the total commitment to this project for

         25  $110 million.  I can also tell you that it's
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          2  underway, and it will be constructed.  So  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Yes. Two and a

          4  half years for environmental work?  Is that what

          5  you're telling us?

          6                 MR. KULLBERG: I don't think the

          7  environmental work that I'm  --  that is underway

          8  now is the same sort of what you're referring to

          9  earlier.

         10                 So  --  I'm sorry.  The design  --

         11  we're in the design phase now.  And construction

         12  should start next year.  And again, we're shooting

         13  for a late 2008 completion of this project.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Oh,

         15  construction will begin next year.  That's good

         16  news.  And the only thing I would add then is I

         17  would underscore the importance.  This is a project

         18  that's been promised for ten- fifteen years.  I

         19  don't think there's any place in the City that the

         20  MTA fails in its obligation to provide mass transit

         21  to the people than it does in Staten Island.  The

         22  MTA has long held out the excuse for that as not

         23  having provision to store buses so that they could

         24  provide that bus service.  And so I just want to you

         25  know, go on record once again, to underscore the
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          2  importance of that project.  In Mr. Lanigan's

          3  testimony, he noted that the Second Avenue Subway

          4  line was necessary to bring the New York City's

          5  transit system into the 21st century.  We're still

          6  waiting for the MTA to bring Staten Island into the

          7  20th century. And the third bus depot is critical if

          8  that is ever to happen. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         10  Member Lanza. Council Member Vallone.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you Mr.

         12  Chair.  And let me say Chair Liu, I remember the

         13  day, not too long ago, when you were accused by the

         14  MTA of not being able to read a financial report,

         15  right before they admitted to having two sets of

         16  books. And I don't think after today, anyone will

         17  ever accuse you of that again.  Me, on the other

         18  hand, that's a different story.  So I'm going to

         19  stick with something I know, and leave finances for

         20  a moment and go to public safety.

         21                 Let's talk about heat gates and

         22  emergency exits for a minute.  It was less than a

         23  year ago when we had  --  still have --  floor to

         24  ceiling heat gates, high entrance and exit

         25  turnstiles. As well as locked emergency exits.  I
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          2  wrote many letters and had the support of the

          3  Council here, attempting to get that changed. And

          4  was told that we had to leave it that way because of

          5  the threat of fare beating.  Which I always thought

          6  was one of the most pathetic excuses for endangering

          7  the lives of our riders in the history of New York

          8  City.

          9                 Finally, I believe, the MTA having

         10  realized that having locked emergency exits was

         11  illegal and completely indefensible, and started to

         12  put emergency exit bars on the emergency doors.

         13  Much like a theater would have, or anyone else would

         14  be forced to have.  Theaters were never allowed to

         15  have locked emergency gates to prevent people from

         16  sneaking in.  The MTA should never have been allowed

         17  to have them to prevent fare beating.

         18                 So the good news is you started to

         19  put emergency gates on.  I'd like the status of that

         20  project, and when it will be completed.

         21                 MR. CHUBAK: My name is Michael

         22  Chubak, and I'm the Acting Director of the Office of

         23  Management and Budget of New York City Transit.

         24                 That project is underway.  The gates

         25  are scheduled to be completed by the end of this
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          2  year.  They're being installed by our Stations

          3  Department.  The gates themselves will be installed

          4  this year.  There are some additional wiring that's

          5  needed to connect them to a remote site for

          6  monitoring.  Those will not all be completed this

          7  year.  But the physical gates themselves, for

          8  egress, will be done by the end of 2006.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well that's

         10  good news.  Let me commend you for that.  This is a

         11  step in the right direction. I'm not going to stop.

         12  This isn't the location for this, but we'll do it

         13  another day.  But I'm not going to stop advocating

         14  for the elimination of these heat gates.  It doesn't

         15  seem to be an excuse to have them anymore.  As I

         16  said, fare beating is no longer our priority.

         17  Preventing terrorist attacks is, and there's really

         18  no excuse for trapping our riders behind these gates

         19  like third class citizens on the Titanic.  Perhaps

         20  John Liu and I will have another hearing on that in

         21  the near future to update the Council on our anti-

         22  terror preparedness.

         23                 One last set of questions would be on

         24  a topic I walked in on, and that was graffiti.  You

         25  mentioned painting cars over, and obviously, as you
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          2  know, that's not what it takes anymore, because the

          3  tool de jour for these vandals is etching acid.

          4  Which no longer allows you to paint over it, or

          5  clean it.  You have to actually remove the windows

          6  or the doors.  And I read about a program now that

          7  you will be instituting to begin that.  Can you

          8  update me on that?

          9                 MR. KULLBERG: A presentation was made

         10  by our Senior Vice President of the Department of

         11  Subways, Michael Lombardi.  He made that

         12  presentation to the MTA Board at its last meeting.

         13  And in fact, we are planning on a program that will

         14  replace existing glass on subway cars, and at the

         15  same time, add a level of protective mylar.  Some

         16  cars have mylar now.  This is going to be a four-

         17  ply mylar, which hopefully will be much more

         18  resistant to etching and scratching.  Including by

         19  acid, I'm sorry.  And in our Preliminary Budget

         20  submission that will be going to the MTA Board in

         21  its July meeting coming up, you'll actually see the

         22  dollars and cents for that program, which are still

         23  being developed.  It's a multi- year program that is

         24  being considered, that will hopefully -  not

         25  hopefully, that will retrofit to entire fleet of
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          2  subway cars.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Did you say

          4  that would be flushed out in July?

          5                 MR. KULLBERG: Yes.  The Preliminary

          6  Budget goes to the MTA Board at its July meeting.

          7  It's the last week in July.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.  That's

          9  good news.  As you may know, we have the toughest

         10  law here in the country regarding possession of

         11  etching acid right now.  Can't even possess it if

         12  you're under 21.  And we're going to make that

         13  tougher. We've got a law in that we'll be debating,

         14  and hopefully this Fall, which will force anyone who

         15  wants etching acid to actually have to have a

         16  permit.  Because there doesn't seem to be a real

         17  reason for anyone to be running around the streets

         18  if you're not working in glass, with etching acid,

         19  other than to deface our trains.  So hopefully that

         20  will help you.

         21                 MR. LANIGAN: Very quickly Council

         22  Member.  We'd like to thank you and your colleagues

         23  for that type of legislation. Again, we are funding

         24  partners and that type of legislation is extremely

         25  helpful to us.

                                                            63

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well thank

          3  you.  Hopefully, you'll come down to our hearings

          4  and say that.

          5                 The other graffiti measure I did read

          6  about was video cameras.  And I'm a big proponent of

          7  video cameras.  And two things I get excited about

          8  are video cameras and graffiti.  So when I heard you

          9  were going to use video cameras to fight graffiti, I

         10  did a little Snoopy dance.  So I want to commend you

         11  on that, and find out, is that also part of the same

         12  program you discussed that will be fleshed out in

         13  July?  Or is there anything you can tell us about

         14  the video camera program?

         15                 MR. CHUBAK: I'm not really sure. I

         16  don't believe so. There is a CCTV program that's

         17  under  --  that was funded I should say, by the

         18  security money that Mr. Kullberg alluded to as part

         19  of the 2006 budget.  That includes two programs for

         20  installing CCTV in approximately 65 to 70 subway

         21  stations.  And we're also embarking on a pilot

         22  project in Manhattan, to install CCTVs on buses.

         23  Both of those projects are underway at the moment.

         24  I don't know the exact schedule of those.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So those are
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          2  the project then, we're referencing then when we

          3  discuss anti- graffiti cameras? Or is there

          4  something else?

          5                 MR. CHUBAK: I don't really know.

          6  There may be something else.  Those are the only two

          7  projects I'm familiar with personally.

          8                 MR. LANIGAN: I think those are two

          9  very different projects that you're referring to

         10  Councilman.  If you're referring to the article that

         11  talked about having the cameras on the trains, it's

         12  slightly different than the program that Mr. Chubak

         13  is talking about, where there was some 63 stations I

         14  believe it is, where cameras have already begun to

         15  be installed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So the

         17  cameras on the train program can you update me on

         18  that one then?

         19                 MR. KULLBERG: We're going to have to

         20  get back to you on the details on how that money is

         21  allocated between the various funding programs.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.  It's

         23  something obviously we're interested in, and we will

         24  be following up with you on that.  I don't want to

         25  take up all my colleague's time.  So thank you very
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          2  much for your efforts in that regard.  Thank you Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

          5  Member Vallone. Just to clarify things, the anti-

          6  graffiti cameras are clearly distinct from the anti-

          7  terror cameras.  It's a separate program. Council

          8  Member Garodnick.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you

         10  Mr. Chairman.

         11                 Welcome back.  Nice to see you again.

         12    I just wanted to follow up on two issues.  One is

         13  the Second Avenue Subway line. I was obviously glad

         14  to hear that you considered this to be vital to

         15  bringing us up to 21st century transportation

         16  network.  I don't need to tell you that Eastsiders

         17  continue to struggle every day, with 40 percent of

         18  all ridership on the Lexington Avenue Line.  And I

         19  was also glad to hear that you didn't see any

         20  conflict between East Side Access and the Second

         21  Avenue Subway in response to Chairman Weprin's

         22  question about that.

         23                 But I did want to follow up.  In your

         24  testimony, you said that  --  we'll we all know that

         25  we're now into the final design of the first leg,
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          2  and that this is an important step to a full funding

          3  agreement.  I think was the way you put it in here.

          4  What is the status of the full funding grant

          5  agreement with the Federal government?

          6                 MR. LANIGAN: We're currently in the

          7  midst of very intense discussions with the Federal

          8  government on both the funding, the full funding

          9  grant agreement for East Side Access as well as

         10  Second Avenue Subway.  There are earmarks within

         11  Federal appropriation for both of these project.

         12  It's $2.6 billion for East Side Access, and $1.3

         13  billion for Second Avenue Subway.  And the first out

         14  of the box will be the actual agreement for East

         15  Side Access, and it is the furthest along.  Then we

         16  expect early next year, that we'll be moving into

         17  the same documentation and application process for

         18  Second Avenue Subway as well.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So this is

         20  the agreement itself.  You're saying the

         21  documentation is the agreement itself.

         22                 MR. LANIGAN: Correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And $2.6

         24  billion for East Side Access.

         25                 MR. LANIGAN: Correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: You think

          3  will be signed first.

          4                 MR. LANIGAN: Correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And then

          6  secondly, the $1.3 billion for the Second Avenue

          7  Subway will come thereafter?

          8                 MR. LANIGAN: Correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: The cost of

         10  this first phase is estimated at $3.8 billion?

         11                 MR. LANIGAN: That is correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: How do we

         13  come to the $3.8 billion?  I know that the MTA

         14  itself had allocated $1.05 billion for environmental

         15  design, other construction in the Capital Budget.

         16  Going back, there's the $450 million from the bond

         17  act.  How do we get between the  --  how do we get

         18  to the $3.8 billion I guess is really the simplest

         19  way to ask that question.

         20                 MR. LANIGAN: Okay, and I'll try to

         21  give a simple answer.  Both of these projects are

         22  funded over multiple capital programs.  Starting

         23  with the '95 to '99 program for East Side Access.

         24  To date  --  so it's going to take into the next

         25  capital program to complete these projects.  To
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          2  date, for East Side, or for Second Avenue Subway,

          3  we've allocated between all the programs about $2.2

          4  billion, which includes Federal money as well as

          5  local money.  And the balance of that will be

          6  allocated in the next Capital Program, once again,

          7  including the Federal funds which will come to the

          8  full funding grant agreement, but which, of course,

          9  is delivered to us in the form of annual

         10  appropriations.

         11                 I think it's important to note that

         12  the Capital Program Review Board itself, as we've

         13  been working closely with the State and the Federal

         14  government in terms of putting together financing

         15  package for this project, has adopted or approved a

         16  formal resolution committing themselves to this

         17  multi- year funding package for these projects,

         18  which the FTA essentially insisted on hearing from

         19  them before they would release these appropriations

         20  for the full funding grant agreement.

         21                 So the projects will be funded over

         22  multiple programs, and that's how you will get to

         23  the $3.8 billion, and the completion of the

         24  projects.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.  I

                                                            69

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  still am a little confused, and I see there's $2.2

          3  billion you said from  --

          4                 MR. LANIGAN: To date.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: To date,

          6  right?  And that's from Federal and local sources.

          7  Is that correct?

          8                 MR. LANIGAN: Correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And that's

         10  over a couple of capital plans, is that right?

         11                 MR. LANIGAN: Correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Does that

         13  include the $1.3 billion that you described as an

         14  earmark   --

         15                 MR. LANIGAN: Portions of it.  That's

         16  correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Portions.

         18  All right. Well this is obviously a more complicated

         19  discussion than we'll probably be able to have at

         20  the moment.

         21                 But I did want to ask one other

         22  question on the holiday fare discount.  My

         23  understanding is that that was implemented at a net

         24  overall cost of about $46.3 million.  Is that

         25  correct?
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN: That's correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Have you

          4  all conducted an analysis of the effectiveness of

          5  that program from last year?

          6                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes, we have.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And what

          8  results have you come to?

          9                 MR. LANIGAN: It was our Policy

         10  Division presented a summary of the holiday fare

         11  program to the Finance Committee last April, and

         12  overall, the program, as you said, had a net cost of

         13  $46.3 million.  It provided bonuses to a significant

         14  number of riders.  The transit riders took 45.9

         15  million half- fare trips, and received 5.1 million

         16  free bonus days.  While railroad commuters and those

         17  holding annual Metro cards received 2.7 million free

         18  rides. During the program period, ridership

         19  increased by about 5 million trips.  And our market

         20  research indicated that the overwhelming purpose of

         21  those additional trips was for shopping and leisure

         22  activities.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Were you

         24  able to conclude whether those 5 million additional

         25  trips were attributable to the discount?
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          2                 MR. LANIGAN: Yes.  They are

          3  attributing those additional trips to the program.

          4  To the holiday program.  To the discount program.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: How do you

          6  make that determination?

          7                 MR. LANIGAN: There was a market

          8  survey firm that was hired.  They did seat drop

          9  applications with commuter railroads as well as

         10  surveys with riders of New York City Transit.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Are you

         12  planning to go forward with this again in 2006?

         13                 MR. LANIGAN: In 2006, the current

         14  financial plan, which again, was released in

         15  February, still has $50 million remaining for a

         16  program.  And a decision will have to be made by our

         17  Board as we move forward.  I'm certain that as we

         18  move into the July program, we'll be receiving

         19  feedback, not only from citizens, but from elected

         20  officials, with various recommendations on how to

         21  proceed with that.  So should a decision be made to

         22  proceed, there are funds available, although there

         23  is quite a bit of controversy as to whether or not

         24  we should.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Well I'll
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          2  give you the feedback just from this elected

          3  official, that I think that the money can be spent

          4  in better ways.  And Council Member Sears was

          5  talking about security.  And Council Member, Chair

          6  Liu was talking about security.  And I think that we

          7  have a long way to go to where we really need to be,

          8  for subway security.  And I think that our

          9  priorities should be there.  But I'll just  --  I'll

         10  communicate that to you separately, but I figured I

         11  would mention it while I had you here as well.  So

         12  thank you very much.

         13                 MR. LANIGAN: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         15  Member Garodnick. Council Member McMahon.  And then

         16  Jackson.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Thank you Mr.

         18  Chairman. Good morning gentlemen.

         19                 I represent the northern part of that

         20  lonely, under served, we feel, by the MTA, borough

         21  known as Staten Island.  And there are a lot of

         22  issue that I'd like to discuss.  And I know that my

         23  colleague talked about the third bus depot.  But

         24  another is, there has been a standing request by the

         25  people of Staten Island to provide a bus link over
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          2  the Bayonne Bridge, from Staten Island, which would

          3  then allow us to access the Hudson- Bergen light

          4  rail line.  With one easy action, you would in

          5  effect give 450,000 people or more access to a whole

          6  new means of mass transportation. You receive

          7  requests, the TA and the MTA receive requests from

          8  the Council Members, from the Borough President,

          9  from the Chamber of Commerce, from our U.S. Senator,

         10  and to date, it seems to be not done.  There's no

         11  commitment to do it.  Can you tell me if there's a

         12  commitment from the TA and the MTA to provide some

         13  kind of link, whether it's extending bus routes

         14  existing, or to provide a charter bus service over

         15  the Bayonne Bridge?  And if so, is there an

         16  appropriation in the budget for it?

         17                 MR. LANIGAN: It would be  --  I'm

         18  aware of the route that you're speaking of.  It

         19  would be premature at this point to say whether

         20  there's a commitment.  There is a lot of discussion

         21  concerning that route.  It seems to have some

         22  support.  But again, our budget process would make

         23  those type of preliminary decisions in July.  So

         24  we've not received back from the agencies, including

         25  Transit, what their proposals are.  And we are
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          2  receiving input from various elected officials, as

          3  you had mentioned.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: So can you

          5  give me  --  tell me specifically then, where the

          6  process is?

          7                 MR. LANIGAN: The process right now is

          8  that the proposals for these type of programs are

          9  being received.  And by July, decisions will be made

         10    --  preliminary decisions  --  will be made in our

         11  budget.  That budget, if the project is or is not in

         12  there, will be reviewed again in November, and

         13  adopted in December by our Board.  So some time

         14  between now and December, this would have to be

         15  decided by our Board, whether or not this service

         16  will be provided next year.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: But maybe

         18  there's new from your right.

         19                 MR. LANIGAN: I see the activity.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Is there

         21  news?

         22                 MR. LANIGAN: Well no.  I'm being told

         23  that there is a task force that's looking at this.

         24  A City task force that's looking at this along with

         25   --  why don't you  --
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          2                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: I just wanted to say

          3   --  which I'm sure you know  --  that the MTA sits

          4  on the Mayor's Task Force on the Staten Island

          5  transportation issues.  And as part of that, we have

          6  agreed to study the issue of the link to Bayonne.

          7  So we're looking at it in that context along with a

          8  lot of other conversations that are going on.  But

          9  no final decision has been -

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Right.  But

         11  as a member of that task force, I understand that

         12  process.  But that's a very slow and deliberative

         13  process.  But I'm asking internally at the MTA or

         14  the TA, where we are on this.  Because we don't have

         15  to wait that long.  And it's my understanding that

         16  Senator Schummer has spoken to Mr. Calico, and to

         17  Mr. Reuter, and there's a commitment to do this even

         18  faster.  I mean, why can't we get this done now, and

         19  expedite this process?  I mean, you'll agree, it's a

         20  good common sense proposal.  Would you agree with

         21  that?

         22                 MR. LANIGAN: I would leave that to

         23  wiser people than myself.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Well they

         25  sent you here as their ambassador and emissary, so
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          2  surely they have a lot of faith in your ability  --

          3                 MR. LANIGAN: Councilman, I'm biased.

          4  I'm from Staten Island.  So I can't  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: I'm sorry?

          6                 MR. LANIGAN: I'm somewhat biased.

          7  I'm from Staten Island.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: So you'll

          9  agree that  --

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: I'll leave that to much

         11  wiser people than  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: You'll agree

         13  though, that it's a proposal that makes eminent

         14  sense.  For very little money, you can access a

         15  whole new system for a lot of reasons.  For day to

         16  day transit, for emergency evacuation, for all those

         17  reasons.  Why is it taking so long?  Why can't we at

         18  least get a few charter buses to hump over the

         19  Bayonne Bridge and connect the people who are so

         20  under- served now by mass transportation?   Why

         21  can't it be done more quickly?  You understand the

         22  budget, how can we get it to get done more quickly

         23  than the normal route that you spoke of?

         24                 MR. LANIGAN: Again, any action such

         25  as that would require Board action.  So I know there
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          2  have been conversations between the Chairman and

          3  elected officials.  Several elected officials.  But

          4  any action that is going to come out of that will be

          5  brought to the Board, and a decision will be made by

          6  the MTA Board, in conjunction with Transit and other

          7  players.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: But the Board

          9  meets regularly, doesn't it?

         10                 MR. LANIGAN: Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Can anyone

         12  else give us some light on this?  Is there any

         13  movement to do this more quickly than through the

         14  Traffic Management Task Force?  I mean, come on.

         15  This is an idea that makes sense.  Let's get it

         16  done.

         17                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: I think as you said,

         18  you recapped it correctly.  Our Chairman has spoken

         19  with Senator Schummer.  There have been discussions

         20  that have been ongoing with President Reuter. So you

         21  know, I think there are discussions that I guess

         22  here, now, today, I'm not prepared to say that a

         23  final decision has been made, because I don't know

         24  that is the case.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: But in your
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          2  expertise, when do you think a final decision will

          3  be made?

          4                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: Again, soon.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: How do you

          6  define "soon"? I just need an answer to what soon

          7  means, and then I'll leave you alone.

          8                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: How about I promise to

          9  go back and talk to my Chairman and get back to you?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Could you

         11  just say that in the microphone so that  --

         12                 MS. GOLDSTEEN: I will commit to go

         13  back and talk to my Chairman and get back to you by

         14  the end of the week.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: That would be

         16  fine.  I appreciate that very much.  Thank you all.

         17  Thank you, Mr. Chairmen.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         19  Member McMahon. Council Member Jackson.  And then

         20  Council Member Koppell, and then that will be all

         21  gentlemen.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you Mr.

         23  Co- Chair. Good afternoon.  I just want to question

         24  about some pension liabilities.  It's my

         25  understanding there was a surplus last year for MTA
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          2  for about a billion dollars.  And that $450 million

          3  was set aside to reduce the unfunded pension

          4  liabilities.  Is that correct?

          5                 MR. LANIGAN: That's correct

          6  Councilman.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And

          8  hoping that this action would generate an annual

          9  savings of about $42 million. That's what the

         10  expectation was.  Is that correct?

         11                 MR. LANIGAN: That's correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: It's been

         13  reported to me that to date, the MTA has not yet

         14  transferred any of the $450 million to pay down the

         15  unfunded pension liabilities.  Is that correct?

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: That's also correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Can you tell

         18  us why these funds have yet to be applied as

         19  proposed, to pay down the pension liabilities?

         20                 MR. LANIGAN: The specifics on the

         21  investment, obviously, are a complex issue.  But we

         22  do plan to have those invested again, prior to  --

         23  hopefully before the July budget. Maybe as early as

         24  our next Board meeting.  The Board has been briefed

         25  on this on more than one occasion.  And at this
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          2  point, it's a matter of making decisions on

          3  specifically what investment vehicles will be used.

          4                 In the interim, the money is not  --

          5  I'm sorry to say, lying idle in my account.  It is

          6  being invested by our Treasurer.  So we are

          7  recouping a level from that.  Not necessarily the

          8  same level that we would assume to receive from the

          9  pension fund, which is about eight percent.  So we

         10  do hope to have decisions made on that though,

         11  within the next 30 to 60 days.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, so in

         13  essence, the anticipated annual savings of $42

         14  million is going to be short then.  Is that correct?

         15  You're not going to achieve  --

         16                 MR. LANIGAN: It could be short for

         17  several reasons. Yes.  It could be short for several

         18  reason, Councilman.  Even if it were to go into the

         19  pension fund, on say, January 1, and be there for a

         20  whole year, the assumption is that the pension fund

         21  would earn eight percent.  And that's the same

         22  assumption we make for our investments  --  for our

         23  payments to the pension fund.  So if the fund were

         24  to perform at beyond eight percent, you would

         25  realize more than $42 million.  If it performed at
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          2  less than eight percent, you would earn less.  Now

          3  since we've not invested in the fund yet, it would

          4  be more subject to what's happening in the

          5  marketplace with cash transactions, which will be

          6  less than the $42 million.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And when will

          8    --  you know, all things considered, I mean, MTA

          9  made a determination to set aside $450 million.

         10  They expected an annual savings of $42 million, and

         11  as far as why the delay?  I understand that pensions

         12   --  but that's why you have pension managers, and

         13  that's why you have people involved in that.  So I

         14  just don't understand why haven't you done that as

         15  of yet?  When the expectation was to do it all

         16  along.  That was in the plan.

         17                 MR. LANIGAN: Again, those discussions

         18  that we talked about have been taking place with our

         19  financial managers.  And I would hope that that

         20  decision will be made as early as the end of June.

         21  And you know, I firmly believe it will be made

         22  before our July planning meetings.  So you know, it

         23  is progressing.  You're correct.  It has not been

         24  done yet.  And we do hope that it will be done very

         25  shortly.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well I mean,

          3  just my overall comment is that considering that

          4  this was all part of the game plan, and that's why

          5  you have pension managers, I just don't see the, I

          6  guess the justification and the delay of the matter,

          7  when in fact, that's what your game plan was in the

          8  beginning.  And just to say that it's complicated,

          9  well, it's not too complicated to transfer money.

         10  You do that electronically.  You don't do it

         11  manually.  It's not too complicated to have pension

         12  managers to deal with that, especially when the

         13  Board has agreed upon it.

         14                 So I'm just hoping and expecting this

         15  to be done, and also that you see the generated

         16  annual savings of at least the $42 million as

         17  expected.  So we'll be following up on this again.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         20  Member Jackson. And I think that's a very good point

         21  that quite frankly, has not been answered in full.

         22  I'm going to just ask you guys to stay for a couple

         23  of moments after that, because we do need to get a

         24  little bit more answer on that question.  But I want

         25  to defer to Council Member Koppell, who has been
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          2  very patient with his question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It's quite

          4  all right Mr. Chairman, both Chairmen.

          5                 I think it was about nine months ago,

          6  I raised at the hearing, the installation of

          7  intercom systems at each of the stations.  And was

          8  surprised to learn, I think there are about 100 odd

          9  stations that had no intercom system in place.  And

         10  I've had some correspondence with Mr. Reuter about

         11  this.  I'm wondering, what is the status of

         12  installation of permanent or temporary intercoms on

         13  all of the Transit Authority stations?  I know the

         14  Metro North stations have them now, all of them.  I

         15  guess the Long Island Railroad does too.  What about

         16  the Transit Authority?

         17                 Does someone here know the answer to

         18  that?

         19                 MR. LANIGAN: Mr. Chubak is for

         20  Transit.

         21                 MR. CHUBAK: We have installed, or are

         22  in the process of installing intercoms at stations

         23  that are enrolled in what's known as the "Station

         24  Customer Assistance Program".  That's a program

         25  where Station Agents no longer remain in the booth
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          2  selling fares.  They come out of the booth and

          3  essentially are able to serve customers from

          4  outside.  Intercoms are being installed in

          5  conjunction with that program.  And there are some

          6  stations where intercoms had been installed

          7  previously.  But I don't believe that there is a

          8  program such as you described currently in the

          9  budget.             However, I should point out that

         10  we do have full time staffing by Station Agents at

         11  all stations, 24 by seven.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well I'm

         13  disappointed to hear that, because as I pointed out

         14  in prior hearings, I think that my recollection is

         15   --  and you can correct me if I'm wrong  -- that

         16  there's a long- term plan to install new customer

         17  communication systems with monitors that will tell

         18  when the next train is coming, and all kinds of

         19  bells and whistles.  But that that program, because

         20  it's expensive, is going to take a number of years

         21  to complete.  But as I pointed out at the hearing

         22  some months ago, and in letters, the installation of

         23  a simple intercom system, at least from the booth to

         24  the platforms, and sometimes the platforms are on

         25  different levels than the booth, would be a
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          2  relatively inexpensive matter.  I mean, there are

          3  certain stations, such as the 161st Street Station

          4  on the Number Four Line, where there's an intercom

          5  system on the platform, and I've examined it,

          6  because I use that station, and it's just a speaker

          7  with wires running along the top of the platform

          8  cover, or platform roof.  So it's not a particularly

          9  technologically difficult or expensive matter to

         10  install that kind of intercom system.  And I have

         11  suggested, as I said, in strong words, that in the

         12  interim, because it's going to be a number of years

         13  before you can install the electronic system, which

         14  is fine, I'm sure that will be helpful, that there

         15  should be some interim steps taken.  And I take it

         16  from what you say, that that is not happening.  Or

         17  hasn't happened.

         18                 MR. CHUBAK: Not that I'm aware of,

         19  no.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well I'm very

         21  disappointed to hear that.  And we'll follow up.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         23  Member Koppell. I just want to ask you gentlemen to

         24  bear with me for another moment here, because I  --

         25  Council Member Jackson's question is a very
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          2  important question.  And again, it's a question that

          3  ultimately speaks to the credibility of the MTA.

          4  When you had a billion dollars of surplus, and as of

          5  October 18th, when we asked in this Committee what

          6  was the MTA going to do with that billion dollar

          7  surplus, there was no answer.  Then, coincidentally,

          8  that very same evening, the Executive Director

          9  circulated a memo about what to do with that billion

         10  dollar surplus.  And part of that memo said that

         11  $450 million would be used to pay down the pension

         12  liabilities. It's been more than six months.  What's

         13  going on?  I suspect that the MTA is just keeping

         14  all it's options open.  Including kind of going back

         15  on that, and redirecting that money towards another

         16  purpose.  There is no reason whatsoever that more

         17  than six months later, the money has not been

         18  transferred into the pension funds.

         19                 I think Mr. Lanigan, earlier you said

         20  that the delay was because it hadn't  --  the

         21  decisions about what investments to make had not

         22  been made?

         23                 MR. LANIGAN: Which pension funds to

         24  invest with. Again, unlike the City agencies,   --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Lanigan, be very
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          2  clear and careful about what you're saying.

          3                 MR. LANIGAN: We are members of

          4  various pension funds.  We do have members that are

          5  in the New York City retirement system, and we also

          6  have other retirement systems.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Lanigan, when

          8  Katy Lapp issued that memo, it was already very

          9  clear which pension funds were severely under-

         10  funded.  What's the problem?  It's been more than

         11  six months.  It takes one piece of paper, a memo,

         12  for that electronic transfer to take place between

         13  the MTA coffers and whatever pension funds you want

         14  to put that money into.  It doesn't take six months

         15  to make that decision.  The delay causes people to

         16  believe that perhaps the MTA may be eyeing that

         17  money for yet another purpose.

         18                 MR. LANIGAN: Again, I don't believe

         19  that's what's happening Councilman.  Just one or two

         20  points on the dates.  The Board was advised when the

         21  budget was adopted, that it would be a three- month

         22  process, and that they would be updated.  In fact,

         23  they were updated in executive session at, I believe

         24  it was our March Board meetings at the Finance

         25  Committee.  They did receive a briefing on what was
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          2  happening with that.  And now you know, so we're

          3  really about two months beyond that.  And I do

          4  believe that we may have a decision at the Board as

          5  early as the month of June.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right. We're going

          7  to keep a very close eye on that.  Thank you

          8  gentlemen for bearing with us all morning.  I want

          9  to thank the audience, particularly the Department

         10  of Transportation, and the Taxi and Limousine

         11  Commission for bearing with us as well.

         12                 And at this point, I'll turn the

         13  floor back to Chairman Weprin.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

         15  Chairman Liu.  We'll now hear from the Department of

         16  Transportation, Commissioner Iris Weinshall.  We

         17  have here Council Member Brewer, from Manhattan;

         18  Council Member Jim Oddo, from Staten Island; Council

         19  Member Bill DeBlasio, from Brooklyn;  Council Member

         20  Mike McMahon, from Staten Island; Councilman Dan

         21  Garodnick, from Manhattan; and Co- Chair Liu, and

         22  myself, David Weprin.  Proceed.  We apologize for

         23  the delay. We hope that didn't inconvenience you.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  It's okay

         25  Mr. Chairman. I'm used to going after the MTA each
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          2  time, so I know that it's always delayed.  I always

          3  hope that they'll tire you out, so there won't be a

          4  lot of questions after.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm hoping that

          6  too.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Okay.  Good

          8  afternoon.  I'm Iris Weinshall, Commissioner of the

          9  New York City Department of Transportation.  And

         10  with me here today is Judith Bergtraum, DOT's First

         11  Deputy Commissioner; and Conan Freud, DOT's Deputy

         12  Commissioner for Administrative Services.  Thank you

         13  for providing me with this opportunity to discuss

         14  DOT's budget, and update you on our recent efforts.

         15                 DOT's Expense Budget for Fiscal Year

         16  2007 is $537 million.  This money will provide the

         17  resources to:

         18                 Energize street lights and signals;

         19  operate the Staten Island Ferry; resurface and

         20  maintain the City's 6,000 miles of streets; maintain

         21  and clean the City's arterial highways; maintain,

         22  clean, and paint the City's bridges; and employ a

         23  staff of over 4,100 employees.

         24                 This plan reflects some important

         25  needs that were funded, many of which are for
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          2  security, highway, and Staten Island maintenance

          3  initiatives.  There was also some technical

          4  adjustments to cover funding for collective

          5  bargaining increases, as well as heat, light, and

          6  power needs.  In addition, with the expansion of our

          7  commercial parking program, 23rd to 33rd Streets,

          8  and the launch of our new street furniture franchise

          9  initiative, we're expecting an increase in revenue.

         10                 Some of the reductions to the Expense

         11  Budget this fiscal year include switches to

         12  alternative funding sources, such as the State

         13  Consolidated Highway Improvement Program, or better

         14  known as CHIPS, and Federal Transportation funds.

         15                 DOT's Capital Plan for Fiscal Year

         16  2007 through 2010 is $4.9 billion.  We have an

         17  aggressive program in Fiscal Year 2007, which will

         18  include, among other projects, $388 million for the

         19  reconstruction of the Willis Avenue Bridge.  And $96

         20  million for in- house street resurfacing Citywide;

         21  $85 million for the East 153rd Street Bridge at Park

         22  Avenue in the Bronx; $66 million for the

         23  reconstruction of the Roosevelt Island Bridge over

         24  the East River Channel; $23 million for the

         25  reconstruction of the Woodside Avenue Bridge over
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          2  LIRR in Queens; $20 million for the Brooklyn Bridge

          3  traveler's replacement; $16 million to replace

          4  street light luminaries Citywide; $14 million for

          5  the purchase of vehicles and equipment for in- house

          6  resurfacing, bridge maintenance and traffic

          7  operations; and finally, $10 million for the

          8  purchase and installation of parking meters

          9  Citywide.

         10                 The Capital Plan provides for an

         11  increase of $141 million in City funds, and $70

         12  million in non- City funds over Fiscal Year 2007

         13  through 2010, compared to the January 2006 Capital

         14  Plan.  This Plan includes and additional $58 million

         15  for in- house resurfacing, to cover incremental

         16  costs; $25 million in non- City funds for the

         17  reconstruction of the State- owned ramps at the

         18  Willis Avenue Bridge; $21 million for the

         19  reconstruction of the East 153rd Street Bridge in

         20  the Bronx; $22 million for the reconstruction of

         21  Bergen Avenue, Brooklyn; $16 million for the

         22  improvements at City owned ferry landings to comply

         23  with Local Law 68 of 2005, to provide accessibility

         24  for disabled persons; $14 million to cover increased

         25  costs of the reconstruction of the Williamsburg
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          2  Bridge; $10 million in non- City funds for

          3  pedestrian safety improvements in Times Square area;

          4  $8 million for the reconstruction of Pennyfield Area

          5  in the Bronx; $5 million for the reconstruction of

          6  Eastern Parkway; and $3 million for the

          7  rehabilitation of cobblestone streets Citywide.

          8  We've also moved up in our Capital Plan the planned

          9  reconstruction of the ramps at St. George Ferry

         10  Terminal, from 2010 to '08, at a cost of $179

         11  million.

         12                 Since the last budget hearing in

         13  March, I'm very pleased to report that we've moved

         14  forward in many noteworthy DOT initiatives.  Just

         15  two weeks ago, on May 15th, our street furniture

         16  franchise agreement was approved by unanimous vote

         17  of the FCRC, and we had a contract closing with our

         18  new vendor, Cemusa, on May 19th. Once the contract

         19  is registered, we will continue to work with the Art

         20  Commission to finalize the designs and begin

         21  constructing 3,500 bus stop shelters, 330

         22  newsstands, and evaluating potential sites for

         23  automatic public toilets.

         24                 This contract will generate a billion

         25  dollars in guaranteed revenue to the City over the

                                                            93

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  next 20 years.  In addition, the City will receive

          3  $400 million worth of advertising in Cemusa's

          4  markets outside of New York, to promote tourism,

          5  trade, and other important City initiatives.  Not

          6  only will this new franchise transform the look and

          7  feel of the City streets, by creating and

          8  aesthetically pleasing streetscape, but it will do

          9  so without the burden of public investment.  We are

         10  pleased that all of our hard work over the last few

         11  years has finally come to fruition.

         12                 As many of you know, another

         13  initiative that we have moved forward on attempts to

         14  strike a balance between recreational and motorized

         15  traffic in our parks.  Mayor Bloomberg, Commissioner

         16  Benepe and I recently announced that we will be

         17  conducting a six month pilot of closure during peak

         18  hours in both Central and Prospect Parks, beginning

         19  next month, through November.  Vehicles will no

         20  longer be able to use Central Park's West Drive in

         21  the afternoon.  As a result, the West Drive will now

         22  be closed to vehicles 91 percent of the time each

         23  week.  Motor vehicles will also be restricted from

         24  Central Park's East Drive, north of 72nd Street, in

         25  the morning, leaving it closed to vehicles 88
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          2  percent of the time each week.  Prospect Park's West

          3  Drive will also be closed in the morning, leaving it

          4  closed to motor vehicles 94 percent of the time each

          5  week.

          6                 DOT will be collecting data during

          7  this period, and will study the impact of the

          8  closures before coming to a decision on whether to

          9  make these changes permanent.  As I stated in my

         10  testimony before this Committee earlier this month,

         11  we believe this pilot program will provide a

         12  noticeable improvement to recreational park users

         13  during the Summer seasons, while allowing us to

         14  continue to address the City's traffic management

         15  needs.

         16                 We also continue to progress on our

         17  New York City Bus Rapid Transit Study, in

         18  cooperation with the MTA, New York City Transit, and

         19  the New York State DOT.  Beginning next week, and

         20  throughout the month of June, we'll be holding

         21  public meetings in each borough to present the plans

         22  for 15 potential corridors that we've identified

         23  Citywide, which appear to have the greatest

         24  potential for BRT, and which are now being studied

         25  in greater detail.  The purpose of the meetings is
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          2  not only to present these candidate corridors to the

          3  public, but to receive their feedback as well.  The

          4  meeting schedule has been e- mailed to each of your

          5  offices, and can also be found on DOT's website.  I

          6  encourage all of you to reach out to your

          7  communities so that their voices are heard.

          8                 Once these meetings are complete, we

          9  will narrow the list, prioritizing five

         10  demonstration corridors, where a variety of BRT

         11  strategies will be implemented.  The measures being

         12  evaluated include: Additional and better enforced

         13   "bus only" lanes; traffic signals that give buses

         14  priority; improved bus stops that provide real- time

         15  arrival information; and new, more customer-

         16  friendly buses.  From what we've been hearing from

         17  elected officials and transit advocacy groups, there

         18  is great interest in the outcome of this study.  So

         19  we're moving forward as quickly as possible, and

         20  plan to begin implementation of the BRT

         21  demonstration corridors in 2008.

         22                 We also continue to move forward on

         23  our Citywide Truck Route Management and Community

         24  Impact Reduction Study.  Two weeks ago, we released

         25  the study's draft report, which can also be found on
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          2  DOT's website.  This consultant- led study assessed

          3  the current management and regulatory framework

          4  which governs truck travel in New York City, and

          5  proposed a set of recommendations by which DOT and

          6  other City, State, and Federal agencies can improve

          7  the overall movement of trucks, while mitigating the

          8  negative impacts that vehicles may have in

          9  residential communities.

         10                 I would also like to note that the

         11  release of this study is being accompanied by a new

         12  round of public outreach meetings that are currently

         13  underway in each of the five boroughs, to present

         14  the consultant findings and recommendations, which

         15  will be followed by a public comment period, over

         16  the Summer.  This schedule of meetings has also been

         17  e- mailed to each of your offices, and can be found

         18  on DOT's website.  Meetings have already been held

         19  last week on Staten Island and in Manhattan.  The

         20  Bronx meeting was held yesterday, and tomorrow, a

         21  meeting will take place in Queens, followed by

         22  Brooklyn, next Tuesday.  Again, I encourage all of

         23  you to reach out to your communities so that your

         24  voices are heard.

         25                 In addition to moving ahead on our
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          2  Truck Study, we're also continuing to make strides

          3  in our Safe Routes to School Program.  To date,

          4  final reports for 22 schools have now been released

          5  to the schools.  We will begin implementation of the

          6  safety measures that were recommended in these

          7  school safety reports, and will be advancing the

          8  improvements recommended at several of the 32

          9  priority schools for which capital improvements will

         10  be forthcoming.

         11                 Safety has been our focus, not only

         12  from a vehicular and pedestrian perspective, but

         13  also from mass transit perspective. Over the last

         14  year, we've continued to implement improvements at

         15  our Staten Island Ferry operation, recommended to us

         16  by GMATS.  As I noted in my testimony last Fall, the

         17  Staten Island Division of DOT became the first

         18  maritime operator in the United States to have been

         19  certified as voluntarily compliant with the

         20  International Maritime Organization's Safety

         21  Management System.  This was the primary

         22  recommendation made to us by GMATS, and also a

         23  recommendation made to us by the National

         24  Transportation Safety Board.  In this regard, I'm

         25  pleased to report that we expect closure with the
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          2  NTSB in the near future.  All of this demonstrates

          3  our commitment to restructuring and improving the

          4  Staten Island Ferry.

          5                 We continue to improve the Staten

          6  Island Ferry Division by our recruiting and training

          7  programs, which will become a routine part of ferry

          8  operations going forward.  With our new management

          9  team finally in place, three new ferries in regular

         10  passenger service, and two new ferry terminals

         11  completed, we can now start focusing on better

         12  managing ferry operations, including overtime and

         13  related expenses.  Ongoing training, better

         14  maintenance practices, continual improvement of

         15  operations, around the- clock port office, and

         16  enhanced security will come at a higher cost.  But

         17  we're committed to these improvements.

         18                 An integral part of our emphasis on

         19  public safety is also DOT's ongoing commitment to

         20  maintaining and improving the City's transportation

         21  infrastructure.  While we experienced a relatively

         22  mild Winter, we did however, suffer the largest

         23  snowstorm in New York City's history, the weekend of

         24  February 11th. And had a few major rainfalls this

         25  Spring.  We've been working diligently to address
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          2  the large number of resulting potholes, and to date,

          3  have filled a little over 216,000 potholes this

          4  fiscal year.

          5                 Additionally, now that the weather is

          6  warmer, our yearly resurfacing program has begun.

          7  And our milling and paving forces are out in full

          8  swing.  As I mentioned at the last budget hearing,

          9  starting this fiscal year, funding for street

         10  resurfacing has increased nearly 30 percent, to 895

         11  lane miles, that is 200 more miles than the previous

         12  year.

         13                 In keeping with the agency's mission

         14  to improve and maintain the City's infrastructure,

         15  I'm pleased to announce that we recently implemented

         16  a new program, which we appropriately named, "Take

         17  Back Our Streets".  This initiative is aimed at

         18  increasing the accountability of both private

         19  contractors and public utility companies that

         20  perform work on the City's streets and sidewalks.

         21  The goal of the initiative is to ensure that private

         22  contractors, utility companies, and subcontractors

         23  they employ, conduct their business in a safe and

         24  efficient manner, properly restoring streets

         25  following excavation, and thus maintaining their
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          2  integrity.

          3                 Take Back the Streets involves

          4  various policy measures, legal actions, and

          5  enforcement strategies, including withholding

          6  permits from contractors who fail to pay fines for

          7  noncompliance with DOT regulations.  Looking

          8  forward, we will also be calling in the performance

          9  bonds of non- compliant companies, and issuing

         10  criminal summonses to companies that perform work

         11  without street- opening permits.  Additionally, and

         12  integral part of this new initiative will be the

         13  addition of 25 new inspectors that DOT plans to hire

         14  in the next fiscal year.

         15                 DOT's mission to maintain the City's

         16  vast transportation infrastructure includes not only

         17  the City's highways and roadways, but also the

         18  countless bridges that link all the boroughs

         19  together.  Looking forward, construction funds have

         20  been allocated to reconstruct the lower roadway of

         21  the Manhattan Bridge, $148 million, which is

         22  currently underway.  Funds have also been allocated

         23  to reconstruct the Willis Avenue Bridge, via an

         24  offline replacement, $338 million.  To reconstruct

         25  the Roosevelt Island Bridge, $66 million.  And to
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          2  build the new cable- stayed 153rd Street Bridge,

          3  $850 million, all in Fiscal Year '07.

          4                 This year's aggressive plan also

          5  includes funds to start another major bridge program

          6  on the Belt Parkway.  This program includes seven

          7  bridges: Paerdegat Basin, Fresh Creek, Gerritsen

          8  Inlet, Mill Basin, Rockaway, Nostrand Avenue, and

          9  Bay Ridge Avenue Bridges.  All of which are in need

         10  of reconstruction. We have scheduled over $450

         11  million in our Capital Plan to complete this work.

         12                 Lastly, I would like to mention that

         13  we're also moving ahead to expanding our credit card

         14  payment project for muni meters.  As I mentioned at

         15  the last hearing, in order to enhance public

         16  convenience, we introduced the use of major credit

         17  cards as an additional payment method in muni meters

         18  located in the theater district last November.  As a

         19  result of this project success, we h have developed

         20  a plan to expand this technology to muni meters in

         21  various on and off street locations throughout the

         22  City.

         23                 From the present through the end of

         24  Fiscal Year '07, we will be upgrading an additional

         25  663 machines to credit card capability.  As a
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          2  result, motorists will have the option of paying for

          3  public parking by using all major credit cards, in

          4  addition to U.S. Quarters, dollars, coins, and the

          5  New York City parking card. We will also be

          6  expanding our Paid Commercial Parking Program.

          7  During Fiscal Year '07, this program will expand by

          8  the installation of 425 muni meters, rails and

          9  signs, from its current boundaries southward from

         10  33rd to 23rd Street, from Second to Ninth Avenue.

         11                 As you can see, we're moving forward

         12  on many fronts to help the City meet its current

         13  challenges.  At this time, I would be happy to

         14  answer any questions that you may have.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

         16  Commissioner.  You talk about a very aggressive

         17  Capital Plan for 2007.  I'm very happy about that.

         18  My problem though, is that in the 2007 to 2010 May

         19  Capital Commitment Plan, the Department decreased

         20  planned City funded commitments for Fiscal '06.  The

         21  fiscal year we're in right now, by $138.7 million,

         22  and decreased non- City commitments by $48.6

         23  million, compared to the September plan.  Are you

         24  just moving it out to '07?  Is that what's

         25  happening?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: A number of

          3  projects have moved out.  They haven't gone away.

          4  The biggest chunk of those projects that moved out

          5  are the World Trade Center projects.  And this was

          6  an initiative that we started after 911 to

          7  reconstruct a number of the streets here in Lower

          8  Manhattan.  In light of all the construction that's

          9  going on here, we had decided that it doesn't make

         10  sense at this point to further clog up all the

         11  streets by doing this major reconstruction, so we're

         12  beginning to move some of those projects out.  But

         13  all the projects that have been moved, have been

         14  moved to other years, but they will happen.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Fair.  I'm

         16  going to turn it over to Chair Liu.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         18    I have two relatively brief questions.  One is

         19  hopefully very brief.  And I know it wasn't

         20  highlighted in your testimony, but that doesn't mean

         21  it's not there.  Is there a plan to reconstruct the

         22  Roosevelt Avenue Bridge in Queens?

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Didn't I say

         24  that?  Yes. It's in my testimony.  It's in there.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, Roosevelt
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          2  Island Bridge is what you spoke about.  But the

          3  Roosevelt Avenue Bridge, between  --

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: It's in

          5  there.  I'm told it's in Fiscal Year '09.

          6                 Councilman, that was part of the

          7  arrangement that we made with reconstructing the new

          8  Met stadium, so that is there. It's in '09.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Great.  So I just

         10  want to make sure that that's in there.  It's

         11  approximately $50 million for the total

         12  reconstruction of the Roosevelt Avenue Bridge.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Right.  My

         14  testimony really talked about what we plan to bid

         15  out next year, but that's in Fiscal Year '09, so

         16  it's the following year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's fine.  And

         18  then the other question is, there was $165 million

         19   --  roughly $165 million of Federal monies that

         20  became available in Fiscal '06 for the purchase of

         21  new buses.  And that money has apparently not been

         22  spent, and is going to be rolled over into Fiscal

         23   '07.  Number one, are you familiar with that money?

         24    And number two, is there any reason why we're

         25  still not using the monies to buy new buses as
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          2  quickly as possible?

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I would

          4  suggest that you ask that question of OMB.  The

          5  money and the responsibility for that bus operation

          6  no longer lies with DOT, and I suggest that you ask

          7  that question of OMB.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  I mean, my

          9  understanding is that that line item actually is

         10  under Department of Transportation.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: It's not

         12  money that I have control over though.  So I would

         13  suggest you ask Mark Page that question.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, the hour is

         17  late, so I'm going to ask our colleagues to try to

         18  limit their questions as the Chair and I both

         19  limited our set of questions.  Council Member

         20  Brewer, for one question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I have several

         22    --  I'll put them all together.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well then try to

         24  consolidate them as easily as you can.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The first
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          2  question is, on just the bus and the rapid transit.

          3  I guess they're two different things.  One is, I

          4  know that at the East Side meeting, there was a

          5  mention of a West Side Manhattan BRT, which we were

          6  surprised. That maybe is a good idea, maybe it

          7  isn't.  It could be part of the study.  But my

          8  question is, how can you have a fast moving bus if

          9  you don't have bus lanes that move?  So obviously,

         10  that's a concern that we have, and we've had some

         11  local discussions on it.  But I just wanted to know,

         12  is there any funding allocated either through DOT or

         13  inter- agency, on this important issue?

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, let me

         15  just say that the whole idea behind BRT is that you

         16  create bus- only lanes, and they are severely

         17  enforced.  Really what you're doing in the end, is

         18  you're taking away capacity from other users on the

         19  street, and you're having a dedicated bus lane.

         20                 The initial study that we were able

         21  to arrive at these 15 possible routes has been

         22  jointly funded by the MTA, DOT, and State DOT.  And

         23  we do have some money, which is in the

         24  Transportation Bill, the Federal Transportation

         25  Bill, which would assist us with BRT.
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          2                 But clearly, once we arrive at what

          3  the five routes are going to be, we'll have to then

          4  really get to work in earnest in figuring out how

          5  much money we'll need, and how we're going to

          6  accomplish it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But what I'm

          8  saying is, we also have regular bus routes.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And the

         11  regular bus routes, at least in Manhattan, have all

         12  the same problems.  So can there be some overlap?

         13  In other words, right now, going up and down, cross

         14  town, it doesn't matter, the cars do the worst

         15  things.  Park in the bus stop.  You know what they

         16  do.  So we push, we push.  We write, we call.  We

         17  are very concerned about this.  So my question is,

         18  can some of this funding or expertise be used to

         19  also just clear for the regular bus routes?

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: We are

         21  continually working with the MTA as well as the

         22  Police Department, as you know, to try and clear a

         23  lot of the routes, and to get folks not to be

         24  parking in the bus stops.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  I'm
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          2  just saying, everybody is trying.  It's still a

          3  problem, and it's not addressed. So we're working on

          4  some material  --

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Council

          6  Member, there's no doubt that it's a problem, and

          7  New Yorkers have to be sort of cognizant of other

          8  New Yorker's needs.  There's no doubt about it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  The

         10  other thing is 79th Street rotunda.  I know it's not

         11  on your list.  Is that something that's on your

         12  radar?  That's over the West Side Highway, Miller

         13  Highway, Parks Department and DOT, it's falling

         14  down.  It's a very expensive project.  Are you

         15  familiar with that project?

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: According to

         17   --  first of all, it's a Parks project, and it's in

         18  the outer years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And the Parks

         20  Department says they can't do it unless they have

         21  DOT funding.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: We'll be

         23  happy to work with them.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  It's an

         25  ongoing discussion.  Okay, on the record, we need to
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          2  actually meet and talk about it.  Okay.

          3                 In terms of the street furniture.  I

          4  assume a lot of it will  --  some of it will end up

          5  in Manhattan.  And I'm just wondering, I know you

          6  mentioned the large amount of money that will ensue.

          7    I'm just wondering if there have been any

          8  drawbacks to this effort, and if so, what are they?

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I think the

         10  effort went pretty well.  We got some very

         11  competitive bids vis a vis the RFP that we sent out.

         12    The design competition that was held, we think is

         13  quite spectacular, and really, as I said in my

         14  testimony, we believe will change really the whole

         15  streetscape of the City of New York.  Really not by

         16  taking away from New York, but sort of adding to it.

         17

         18                 We are very excited about this

         19  program, and you know, I think the one issue that we

         20  sort of have to resolve is where we're going to put

         21  these public toilets.  I know that it has to be an

         22  agreement between the Mayor and the Speaker, and I'm

         23  hopeful that you know, Members will come forward and

         24  talk to the Speaker about where they would like to

         25  see those toilets go, because we'd like to get
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          2  working as quickly as possible to locate a few of

          3  them.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  In

          5  terms of the  -- just generally, pedestrian

          6  friendly, which you're also responsible for in a

          7  positive way.  I just came from a senior citizen

          8  meeting this morning, and it's the same issues of

          9  trying to get around the streets.  And does some of

         10  this funding mean that  --  that you outlined that

         11  is new, or is being redirected, does it mean that

         12  there is a real effort to try to have every possible

         13  street be, I would call it friendly to disabled and

         14  seniors?  Curb cuts. Sometimes curb cuts are simple,

         15  when you have a new  --  sometimes they are  --

         16  like on 86th Street on the northeast corner, you

         17  have to redo the whole street because it's so steep.

         18    The curb cut et cetera.  How are we focusing on

         19  this issue?

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: As you know,

         21  we are under a Federal consent decree, as quickly as

         22  possible, to put these curb cuts in.  And there were

         23  certain parameters put into that consent decree that

         24  we had to have so many done each year.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Could we do a

                                                            111

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  few more?

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, we have

          4  not only complied, I was going to say, but we've

          5  exceeded what we had promised the Federal government

          6  we could do.  What we're up to now is the more

          7  difficult curb cuts.  As you can appreciate, not

          8  everything is simple in the City of New York, and

          9  so, we are left with some what we call complex curb

         10  cuts.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm familiar

         12  with them.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: And we are

         14  working as fast as we can to get them done.  When I

         15  say that they're complex, it's because catch basins

         16  have to be moved, DEP may have a project that's

         17  going in there very soon.  DDC may have a project.

         18  So we are working very aggressively on this program.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.  I

         20  appreciate the closing of the parks.  Of course, we

         21  would like to have them closed completely.  But I

         22  appreciate the input and we'll keep talking about

         23  it.  Thank you very much.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council
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          2  Member. Council Member Oddo.

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Before  --

          4  if I could just say one thing.  Before  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm going to

          6  blame you for the delay.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.  You

          8  can.  The Council Member had  --  and I didn't put

          9  it in my testimony  --  she was a big proponent of

         10  count- down signals.  And I just want to announce --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: What signals?

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Count- down

         13  signals.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Count down.

         15                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I think

         16  Chairman Liu has  -- we've talked about it a various

         17  Council hearings, and I know Council Member Brewer

         18  has been a big advocate.  I had testified a few

         19  months ago that we were going to have a pilot

         20  program, and I just want to announce that that pilot

         21  program will be starting this Spring, and we have

         22  picked five locations to try the pilot.  And -  do

         23  we have a list of where they are?  In Manhattan,

         24  it's actually  --  yes.  In Manhattan, it's Avenue

         25  of the Americas at West 8th Street.  Queens,
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          2  Hillside Avenue at 179th Street. Brooklyn, Coney

          3  Island Avenue and Kings Highway.  The Bronx, Seven

          4  Boulevard at 149th Street.  And in Staten Island,

          5  Highland Boulevard at New Dorff Lane.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I appreciate

          7  that.  It's also the issue of the audible, which is

          8  slightly different.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, we have

         10  audibles around the City  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Not in that

         12  many places.  I know them all.  I've visited them.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But the fact

         15  of the matter is, there are still many  --  we'd

         16  like to have it universal, so we are still working

         17  on that with the Chairman.  And I could just tell

         18  you, particularly the Jewish Guild, for instance,

         19  for the blind, and elsewhere, where they do not

         20  exist, it would be that it's a constant refrain.  So

         21  I appreciate the count- downs, and the five, but I

         22  really would like to also push for the audibles.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you.
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          2    Council Member Oddo.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you Mr.

          4  Chair.  Welcome Commissioner.

          5                 I just want to take a moment to focus

          6  on the Take Back the Streets initiative.  I commend

          7  you for it.  I remember talking with you and Judy a

          8  few years back, and it's certainly needed in my home

          9  borough, where one of the by- products of over

         10  development is the numerous street cuts that are

         11  done improperly, where they start out as a sort of a

         12  de facto bump, because they pile on the asphalt,

         13  knowing invariably that they'll sink, and then they

         14  come up, and then eventually, there's a concave.

         15  Could you just tell us more about  --  is the

         16  initiative fully underway?  Are you in the initial

         17  steps?  Are you finding that there are a specific

         18  universe of bad guys engaging in the practice on and

         19  on? Are you going back and kind of mining some of

         20  your old data in looking at where you got requests

         21  from elected officials to fix street cuts?  And how

         22  far into the process are you?

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I would say

         24  we're about 30 percent of the way there, in

         25  initiating Take Back the Streets. What was sort of
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          2  very interesting to us, as I mentioned in my

          3  testimony, working with the Finance Department and

          4  ECD, we compiled a list of contractors who had not

          5  paid their fines.  And had steep violations.  And

          6  what was interesting is, we did the first group of

          7  five, and basically said, you're not going to get

          8  any more permits unless you come in and fully pay

          9  your violations.  I would say all of them made

         10  restitution of their fines.  We went to the next

         11  group of five, and Finance is working on that group.

         12    Even though some can't pay fully, they're coming

         13  in.  They're coming up with a payment scheme.

         14                 More importantly, though, we're

         15  working toward a couple of initiatives.  I mentioned

         16  that we had gotten 25 new inspectors to be able to

         17  go out and inspect the work that's being done by the

         18  contractors, because that's really key.

         19                 Another thing that I didn't mention

         20  is, very often contractors, if they're not  --  if

         21  people don't keep an eye on them, as you and I have

         22  discussed, when they backfill a hole, they're

         23  putting inadequate fill back into the hole.  We are

         24  working on a new technology which will allow us to

         25  go out and take a test to see if there is proper
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          2  fill.  If there isn't, the contractor is going to be

          3  called back to do a proper backfill of the area.

          4  It's called a core sample, and we're working on that

          5  technology.  So we're about 30 percent of the way

          6  there.  And we are hopeful that by the Fall, we'll

          7  be almost 70 or 80 percent of the way there.

          8                 But the other thing is that we have

          9  called in the contractors.  We've called in, most

         10  importantly, the utilities, to be able to advise

         11  them as to what we're doing here.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The stick that

         13  you have, you have a powerful enough,

         14  administratively, where you wouldn't need any sort

         15  of a legislative remedy to  --  you can do it

         16  internally.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: We can do it

         18  through the Administrative Code, and you know, let

         19  me just say that the most powerful stick we have is

         20  that contractors will not get permits. And if we

         21  find a contractor doing work without a permit, it's

         22  what I said.  We'll go for some criminal remedies

         23  here.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The 25

         25  inspectors will just be spread out evenly?  Or will
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          2  they focus on new streets, or newly paved streets?

          3  Because it just kills me every time that you pave a

          4  street, and then within months, weeks, there's a  --

          5    it's ripped up.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Of the 25,

          7  we're going to have ten of them that are basically

          8  located centrally.  And we're going to basically

          9  send those out to do exactly what you're describing.

         10    So we're going to have our regular setup, which is

         11  we have inspectors in every borough.  And then we're

         12  going to have a basically a swat team of ten to go

         13  out and look at backfill like you just described.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So when and

         15  individual elected officials have street cut sites

         16  that they see as problematic  --

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Absolutely.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  --  Just send

         19  them to  -- continue to send them to the Borough

         20  Commissioner?

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Absolutely.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.  Great.

         23  Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         25  Member. Council Member Koppell.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

          3  Good afternoon Commissioner.

          4                 I note in your statement, you make

          5  reference to the truck study, and in fact, I

          6  participated in your Bronx meeting last night, but I

          7  must tell you that I know you said you e- mailed our

          8  offices notice.  For some reason, our office didn't

          9  get notice, or at least didn't see it.  Assemblyman

         10  Dinowitz, with whom I work very shortly (sic) said

         11  his office didn't get notice.  And I would urge that

         12  maybe in addition to e- mail, it should be mail

         13  notice, or maybe even  --  there should be more

         14  notice.  Let me just say that, of those hearings.

         15   --

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: David

         17  Wallace, who is the Deputy Commissioner for External

         18  Affairs, and this sort, is taking the lead on this,

         19  and said it was faxed  --  and faxed to your

         20  offices.  So, sometimes technology doesn't work, and

         21  we apologize.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well I don't

         23  know.  My office told me that they only heard about

         24  it yesterday.  And really only heard about it

         25  because Ms. Katizy (phonetic), who I'm sure you know
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          2  her name, because she's watching every minute about

          3  the parkways.  And she notified us.  But  --  and

          4  then we did look on the website.  And we don't

          5  customarily go to the website.  There was material

          6  on the website.  That's true.  But we don't look at

          7  the website generally.

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Council

          9  Member Brewer is saying it's right there.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No.  It's on

         11  the website. But when you have hearings around the

         12  City, there should be better notice, especially to

         13  all public officials, so that  --  but you know, I

         14  made the point, so  --  And I made my strong views

         15  against putting trucks on the parkways known.  There

         16  may be different views on that, and you should

         17  certainly get all the views.  Some of the other

         18  things you're doing in the study with respect to

         19  signage and rationalizing routes and so on is of

         20  course good.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Councilman,

         22  if I just may point out that you know, this was a

         23  recommendation of the study.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: And I
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          2  mentioned in my testimony, that's why we're going to

          3  all the boroughs, because we want to get this type

          4  of feedback, and we  --  this is not cast in stone.

          5  So the whole purpose is, we want to hear what the

          6  communities have to say.  And we will then sort of

          7  weigh it versus what recommendations we're going to

          8  implement, and what not.  It's a public process, and

          9  that's why we're out there in the community.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No.  I'm not

         11  opposed to studying it.  I don't believe in not

         12  studying things.  I just was --  well I have a

         13  strong view on it, but in addition to that, I was

         14  concerned about the lack of  --  what appeared to be

         15  lack of adequate notice.  So just  --  you know, for

         16  instance, I don't know whether you put a notice in

         17  the transit.  I don't know what the best ways of

         18  notifying people are of these kinds of hearings.

         19  But certainly, it seems that notice to you know, all

         20  the local newspapers should be notified.  I mean, I

         21  don't need to tell you. You know this better than I

         22  do.  But there was not a great deal of notice in

         23  fact, in my opinion of this.

         24                 The other thing I would ask you,

         25  since you're here today, is  --  and I get
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          2  conflicting reports  --  as you know, a great deal

          3  of work is being done on the Henry Hudson Parkway on

          4  various phases on the bridges, which we've discussed

          5  at great length, on guardrails and such.  Could we

          6  get from your Department an update as to where that

          7  work is?  Because my constituents are very upset

          8  about the lengthy time it's taking to complete that

          9  work on the Henry Hudson Parkway in the Bronx.  So

         10  we'd like to get a status report.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Sure.  We'll

         12  be sure not to e- mail it to you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.  Thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         16  Member. Council Member James.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         18  Good afternoon Commissioner.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Good

         20  afternoon.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: According to

         22  your testimony, Brooklyn is scheduled to have a

         23  meeting next Tuesday.  Is that correct?

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: On BRT, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.  And so,
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          2  in following up to the questions that were posed by

          3  my colleague, what, if any, advertisement was done

          4  in the borough of Brooklyn?

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, we sent

          6  out  --  it's on our website.  We sent out an e-

          7  mail to each of your offices.  As well as  --

          8  David, was there a public notice put into the

          9  newspaper?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: In some of the

         11  local papers -

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Local

         13  newspapers have it. And as a matter of fact, I'll

         14  just leave this with you  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Please.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: This is what

         17  is up on our website.  We talked about the BRT

         18  study, and it says the dates and locations of all

         19  the public meetings.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: In particular,

         21  I  --

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: And by the

         23  way, this is the one for the truck study.  So  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The truck study

         25  is absolutely important in my district, as you know,
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          2  which abuts the BQE, and a significant number of

          3  constituents along the BQE complain about illegal

          4  truck routes, particularly in the Brownstone

          5  community.  So that study is very critically

          6  important.

          7                 Let me also say that I miss very

          8  much, Laurie Ardido.  I miss her.  I haven't bonded

          9  yet with the new Commissioner in Brooklyn.  But

         10  Laurie Ardido anticipated a call from me at least

         11  once or twice a week.  And she personally took all

         12  my of my calls, and I again, look forward to bonding

         13  with the Brooklyn Commissioner.

         14                 Let me thank you for Eastern Parkway.

         15    The renovation of Eastern Parkway.  Let me also

         16  thank you for the draft study on parking permits in

         17  Downtown Brooklyn.  As we talk about that project,

         18  and you know the project that I'm talking about, I

         19  hope that we can expand residential parking permits

         20  not only to Fort Greene, but we can do a pilot

         21  project in Fort Greene on residential parking

         22  permits, and that we also do a pilot project and we

         23  study Prospect Heights and Clinton Hill, which

         24  unfortunately, will be greatly impacted by that

         25  project which the Chairman will not allow me to talk
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          2  about, since I talk about it so much.  Right

          3  Chairman Weprin?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I've never heard

          5  you mention that project before.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So if we can

          7  again  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Did you e- mail

          9  me it?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So if we could

         11  focus on residential parking permits for Prospect

         12  Heights and Clinton Hill, in anticipation  --  not

         13  anticipation, assuming  --  a great assumption  --

         14  that project goes forward.

         15                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: As a matter

         16  of fact, we're still waiting to hear back from the

         17  community.  You know, we did release the report  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  --  About

         20  residential parking.  And I believe the community

         21  wants to have some type of large, open meeting,  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.  Yes.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  --  Which I

         24  would really encourage, because you know, there are

         25  people who come out in favor of it, and there are
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          2  people who are vehemently opposed to it.  So I would

          3  really encourage the community to have this public

          4  forum, so the pros and cons can be presented.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I was at

          6  that meeting, and in fact, I put that on the table.

          7  And I know that we have to get 50 percent of

          8  community support in order to go forward on a pilot

          9  project.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I'm certain

         12  that in Fort Greene, we will be able to get that.

         13                 And my last point is  --  question

         14  is, DEP and DOT sometimes I call DOT when there are

         15  street collapses, or  --  and then sometimes DOT

         16  tells me it's DEP.  What's the distinction? Where do

         17  the fault lines begin?  Or  --

         18                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Very often,

         19  if it's related to the water system or the sewer

         20  system that's causing the street to collapse, it's

         21  DEP, it's not DOT.  If you call 311, they can pretty

         22  much figure out, or try to figure out from what

         23  you're telling them.  If it's like around a manhole

         24  cover, pretty much it's either because of a utility,

         25  because of some DEP work.  If you explain to them
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          2  what the nature of the problem is  --  now if you

          3  can't, we'll just send an inspector out.  And we're

          4  no longer feuding agencies.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I heard.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: We'll send

          7  somebody out, and then we'll make the distinction

          8  that it's DEP or it's us, and then we'll hand over

          9  the work to which ever agency.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I'm glad those

         11  differences have been resolved.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: They have

         13  been.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         16  Member.  And the last questioner for the

         17  Commissioner is Council Member Helen Sears.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I promise to be

         19  very quick. Good morning Commissioner.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Good morning.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: It's good to

         22  see all of you.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: It's good to

         24  see you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: My question is
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          2  that recognizing the truck study and how you've done

          3  it, when do you anticipate the final report,

          4  approximately, to come in?

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: David tells

          6  me early Fall. After we've done all these borough

          7  meetings, we then take in all the comments from the

          8  community.  We will attempt to get it out in the

          9  Fall.  He says early Fall.  I'm going to say late

         10  Fall.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.  Then

         12  what follows after that?  Because it could be a

         13  budget issue in terms of the recommendations, what

         14  you do do.  And what you feel is not advisable to

         15  do.  That's why I raise the question here.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: There will be

         17  a number of issues.  Because we may have to do some

         18  capital work as well.  And therefore, we'll have to

         19  go through the capital process.  Because right now,

         20  we don't have really hardly any money in the capital

         21  program to do the type of changes we need to do for

         22  the truck study.  As well as, we'll have to go back

         23  to community boards to advise them of the definite

         24  changes we're making.  So it's going to be a process

         25  that we have to go through, and one that we'll take
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          2  very seriously.  Because even though these are

          3  recommendations that you know, we are agreeing with

          4  the consultant about, we then need to go back to

          5  those community boards to tell them, this is what

          6  we're doing, and this is the timeframe we have in

          7  mind.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So we wouldn't

          9  see anything happening prior to probably the '08

         10  budget?

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well no.

         12  Some of this stuff you're going to see right away.

         13  And some of the stuff is already starting to happen.

         14    The signage, working with the Police Department,

         15  stuff is already beginning to happen.  The low-

         16  hanging fruit that I talked about at a previous

         17  Council hearing, that we're able to accomplish right

         18  away.  Because it doesn't really involve either a

         19  change in the route, because we don't have to do any

         20  type of capital improvements.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I commend you

         22  for that, for this report.  Because the communities

         23  are such  --  and the schools that are right in

         24  these commercial areas are part of the safety zones

         25  that you issued.  So you are to be commended for
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          2  this.

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And I think

          5  it's going to make some  --  to create some very,

          6  very necessary changes in the City. So I want to

          7  thank you very much for that.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm going to

         10  allow Councilman Gentile to ask you about the

         11  parking signs, because he was the leader in the

         12  Council  --  one of the leaders, but certainly one

         13  of the more vocal leaders in eliminating Sunday

         14  parking meters.  And I know it's been a beef

         15  complaint not only by him, but other Council Members

         16  as to the changing of the signs.  So Council Member

         17  Gentile.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I will be

         19  brief Mr. Chairman.  I thank you.  And Commissioner,

         20  thank you for being here today.

         21                 You mentioned signage in your

         22  response, your last response.  And that brought to

         23  mind the issue of signage that I hear most about.

         24  Of the fact that the law in the City of New York was

         25  changed in November of 2005, eliminating Sunday
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          2  parking meters across the five boroughs.  And as you

          3  travel around this City, Sunday after Sunday after

          4  Sunday after Sunday, you continue to see numerous,

          5  numerous signs that continue to say one hour or two

          6  hour parking including Sunday.  And I guess my

          7  question to you is, Commissioner, I have heard no

          8  plan at this point, of when those signs will be

          9  changed to conform to the law of the City of New

         10  York, which has excluded Sunday parking meters?

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: At the time

         12  that I testified on that legislation, I said that it

         13  would take us a year, and I'd be happy to send you a

         14  copy of that testimony.  It will take us a year from

         15  the time of the implementation of the law.  So we

         16  hope that by November of 2006, all the signs will be

         17  changed out.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: It's

         19  interesting that you would say that, given the fact

         20  that I  --  someone just sent me in the mail, an RFP

         21  that you've put into the paper for erecting traffic

         22  signs.  Now I don't know the details of it, but

         23  someone just sent me an RFP that was put out by DOT.

         24    And you're looking to put up additional traffic

         25  enforcement signs, but yet, haven't taken care of
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          2  conforming to the law of changing a word of

          3   "including" to "excluding".  And maybe just putting

          4  an "ex" over the "in" that would make the sign

          5  conform to the law.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Is there a

          7  question there?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEINSHALL: Well I'm

          9  just saying it's amazing to me that you're putting

         10  out new RFPs for additional traffic enforcement

         11  signs, when we haven't dealt with the issue of

         12  conforming to the law of the City of New York.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Councilman,

         14  as I've testified before this Committee before, we

         15  have hundreds of thousands of signs throughout the

         16  City.  New initiatives, old initiatives.  And I

         17  testified that by November of 2006, the signs will

         18  be changed out.  And it will be done by then.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Does it

         20  trouble you that New Yorkers and tourists and others

         21  continue to pour money into our meters on Sunday?

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, I would

         23  hope that New Yorkers would realize that they don't

         24  have to put money in the meters on Sunday.  And if

         25  they do, I'm sorry for that.  But we have 1.3
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          2  million signs throughout the City of New York, and I

          3  think if you read my testimony, we're involved in

          4  many new initiatives throughout the City which

          5  require new signage, as well as maintaining life-

          6  threatening signs throughout the City.  Stop signs,

          7  arrow signs that we have to put in.  So you know,

          8  I'm sorry that people don't know.  Some people.  But

          9  there's been a lot of notoriety about this issue.  I

         10  think most New Yorkers know.  And if they put a few

         11  scheckles in and help to balance the budget, you

         12  know, all I can say is if they don't put the money

         13  in, they're not getting a ticket, and if they do put

         14  money in, and the meter runs, they're not getting a

         15  ticket.  So they're out a few bucks.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: It would seem

         17  to me Mr. Chairman, that the signs that created the

         18  revenue on Sunday, that said including Sunday, went

         19  up a lot quicker than they signs that now would say

         20  excluding Sunday.  It didn't take the amount of time

         21  to get those signs up across the five boroughs, and

         22  it's taking a tremendous amount of time to change

         23  those signs.  And I think that's the observation of

         24  many New Yorkers.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Your point is
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          2  well taken.  And maybe we can have an application to

          3  the Department of Finance for a receipt for a

          4  donation to the City of New York for all those

          5  people that have contributed money over this period

          6  of time.

          7                 Thank you Commissioner for your

          8  testimony as usual. And your accessibility.  We're

          9  behind schedule, but we're going to try to catch up.

         10    We will now hear from the Commissioner of the Taxi

         11  and Limousine Commission, Matthew Daus.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: This is the

         13  hearing of the Transportation Committee, Chaired by

         14  John Liu.  We have Council Member Gale Brewer, from

         15  Manhattan; Councilman Vincent Gentile, from

         16  Brooklyn.  And we hope not to hold you long.  Do you

         17  have prepared testimony?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Is it

         20  long?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: No.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, good.

         23  Proceed.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: I speak very fast

         25  also.  It comes with coming from Brooklyn I guess.
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          2                 Good afternoon Chairman Liu, Chairman

          3  Weprin, and Members of the City Council

          4  Transportation and Finance Committees. My name is

          5  Matthew Daus.  I am the Commissioner and Chair of

          6  the New York City Taxi and Limousine Commission.

          7  Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you

          8  today to present specific testimony relating to

          9  Fiscal Year 2007's Executive Budget for the Taxi and

         10  Limousine Commission.  Joining me are First Deputy

         11  Andy Salkin, to my right.  And to my left, Deputy

         12  Commissioner for Finance and Administration, Louis

         13  Tazzi.

         14                 As you know, the TLC is a licensing

         15  and regulatory agency that plays an integral part in

         16  the lives of all New Yorkers. Our agency oversees

         17  the for- hire vehicle industries in New York City,

         18  including yellow medallion cabs, community car

         19  services bases and vehicles, black car services,

         20  luxury limousines, commuter vans, and paratransit or

         21  ambulet services.  Combined, the TLC regulates

         22  industries that are responsible for over 500,000

         23  daily trips, serving over one million passengers

         24  daily.  In general, our agency is responsible for

         25  licensing and regulating 12,779 taxicabs, more than
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          2  37,000 for- hire vehicles, 230 commuter vans, and

          3  2,200 paratransit vehicles.  TLC also licenses and

          4  regulates nearly 100,000 drivers and over 700 for-

          5  hire vehicle bases.  In addition to paratransit

          6  bases, medallion brokers and agents, taxi meter

          7  shops, and commuter van authorities.  Our role is to

          8  ensure that each passenger's riding experience is

          9  safe, comfortable, and convenient.

         10                 I will begin today by providing a

         11  brief overview of the TLC's Executive Budget for

         12  Fiscal Year 2007.  Then I will provide and update on

         13  several key initiatives that the TLC is working on,

         14  many of them in direct collaboration with the

         15  Council. Our operations at the TLC will be conducted

         16  within and Executive Budget for Fiscal Year 2007, of

         17  $28,382,782.  Of that amount, $20,509,287 is for

         18  personal services, and $7,873,495 is for OTPS, or

         19  Other Than Personal Services.  This is an increase

         20  over the Preliminary Budget, which largely reflects

         21  the rollover of the City Council's $1.302 million

         22  allocation for accessible vehicles from FY 2006,

         23  into the FY 2007 budget.

         24                 As the Council is well aware, the

         25  City is about to conduct a set of two closed bid
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          2  auctions of 308 taxicab medallions. One on June

          3  16th, the TLC will sell 54 medallions reserved for

          4  vehicles accessible to passengers in wheelchairs.

          5  That will be added to the current 27 accessible

          6  medallions already in service. On June 22nd, the TLC

          7  will sell 254 medallions reserved for use with

          8  alternative fuel vehicles.

          9                 Over the past several months, the TLC

         10  conducted an extensive and aggressive outreach

         11  program to generate interest in these medallion

         12  auctions.  Our efforts have included advertisements

         13  and interviews on radio, television, and in print,

         14  four outreach seminars, attended by nearly 400

         15  potential bidders, two bid workshops, one of which

         16  is going on as we speak, and a direct mail campaign.

         17    The TLC will be continuing its outreach efforts

         18  and we are optimistic that there will be a

         19  significant demand for the medallions we're offering

         20  for sale.

         21                 The Administration is also committed

         22  to working with the City Council towards the goal of

         23  ensuring equal access to the for- hire

         24  transportation system for disabled passengers.  We

         25  hope to receive State authorization to sell and
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          2  additional l50 accessible medallions as quickly as

          3  possible.

          4                 Also, we will be working with the

          5  Council, the Mayor's Office of People with

          6  Disabilities, and advocacy groups to set up a demand

          7  responsive transportation service that better meets

          8  the needs of disabled passengers in all five

          9  boroughs.  The $1.302 million that the Council

         10  allocated can be an important part of the solution,

         11  and the TLC looks forward to working with all

         12  parties on these issues.

         13                 Beyond this important goal, the TLC

         14  is also committed to furthering the overall safety

         15  and welfare of the riding public.  And to providing

         16  the best customer service we can to our licensees.

         17  Let me offer just two brief examples.  First, we are

         18  in the midst of training our newest class of

         19  recruits for the Uniformed Services Bureau.  These

         20  new inspectors will help enforce the Local Laws and

         21  rules governing for- hire transportation services.

         22  Second, we are beginning efforts to train a new

         23  class of Administrative Law Judges for the TLC's

         24  Adjudications Tribunals. We hear approximately

         25  100,000 cases every year.  Recruiting and
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          2  maintaining a core of committed and fair judges is

          3  vital to ensure that all of our licensees obtain a

          4  speedy and a fair hearing.

          5                 To conclude, the TLC is committed to

          6  continually challenging itself to find the best ways

          7  to serve the needs of the riding public.  The

          8  Executive Budget proposed by the Mayor for 2007

          9  Fiscal Year, helps us accomplish those goals.

         10                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         11  to testify today.  I'd be now happy to address any

         12  questions you might have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

         14  Commissioner.  How do you think these new taxi

         15  medallions are going to be you know received?

         16  Can you give us  --  it seems to be every time you

         17  know, the sale of taxi medallions comes up, the you

         18  know  --  obviously, the price seems to go up and up

         19  the last few years.  And then you know, we're

         20  injecting this you know, alternative fuel and the

         21  wheelchair accessible  --  I mean, can you give  --

         22  is there you know, going to be a price differential

         23  for these type of medallions?  And what would that

         24  differential be?  And you know, can you just give me

         25  a quick synopsis of you know, how you see you know,
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          2  the price of the medallions in general, and with the

          3  special vehicles?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Well it's hard to

          5  determine or speculate what the exact prices are

          6  going to end up being after the auction, because it

          7  is competitive.  I mean, our hope is that there will

          8  be many, many bidders in competition with one and

          9  other, and that you know, the price  --  the purpose

         10  of an auction is to drive the price up.  The

         11  accessible and alternative fuel vehicles sold for

         12  less than other types of medallions at the last

         13  auction.

         14                 And in terms of setting minimum upset

         15  prices, we recognize that difference, because there

         16  are additional costs involved with alternative fuel

         17  and accessible vehicles.  We actually just set the

         18  minimum bidding prices lower for those types of

         19  medallions.

         20                 So we recognize that they might be

         21  worth less, but who is to tell at this point?  We'll

         22  see.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: What was the

         24  average price of the last auction we had?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: The average sales
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          2  price?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: For which  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I remember it

          6  exceeded expectations.  That's my recollection.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: It did exceed

          8  expectations.  What number are you looking for in

          9  particular?  The individuals?  Or the corporates?

         10  Or the accessibles?  Or the alternative fuel?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, the regular

         12  medallions.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Okay.  One second,

         14  we'll get you that number.  Oh, these are the

         15  averages?  Okay, we'll try to get you that number

         16  before the hearing is over.  I don't remember off

         17  the top of my head.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: All right.  Do

         19  you want to provide it to  --  why don't you give us

         20  a breakdown if you can on all of them, as long as

         21  you're you know, going to be  --

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Well I can give

         23  you the minimum bid prices if you'd like.  Of what

         24  we're expecting.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Sure.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: For the accessible

          3  medallions  -- this would be for independent and

          4  mini- fleets.  They could be operated in groups of

          5  two, or if it's individual, you have to drive it if

          6  you own it.  And you can only own one.  For the

          7  accessible medallions, we set a minimum bidding

          8  price of $275,000 per medallion.  And if you want to

          9  buy two, as a fleet owner, you'll have to bid a

         10  minimum of $550,000 per two medallions.  Alternative

         11  fuel medallions, the independent ones, the floor is

         12  $320,000 for the bidding.  And alternative fuel

         13  medallion mini- fleets are $750,000 per lot of two

         14  medallions.  So we'll see.  Our hope is that

         15  competition will even itself out, and if it doesn't,

         16  then hopefully, those medallions will sell, and

         17  people will get a bargain.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you

         19  Commissioner.

         20                 Chairman Liu, did you have a

         21  question?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I just want to thank

         23  Chairman Daus and his team at the Taxi and Limousine

         24  Commission for everything that they have been doing.

         25    Thanks for joining us, and thanks for being
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          2  patient.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: You're very

          4  welcome.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          6  Anybody else?

          7                 Council Member Sears, quickly.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.  I

          9  just wanted to thank the Commissioner, because

         10  there's been an enormous change in the black cars in

         11  my district, and I see in other boroughs as well.

         12  The cars are much superior.  The drivers know what

         13  they're doing. And they have maps with them.  So

         14  there's been a great improvement, and I know it's

         15  through the efforts of you and the agency.  So I

         16  really thank you.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: We're pleased to

         18  hear that.  But we'll keep our efforts in that

         19  regard going.  There's still more work to do.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Now we won't

         21  let you let him down.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: I didn't think you

         23  would.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Actually, just

         25  quickly, since it looks like we don't have too many
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          2  questions.  I know there's been talk and

          3  applications regarding with the price of fuel going

          4  up, a surcharge for fuel.  Can you give us a quick

          5  update as to what's happening with that?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Sure.  Well, you

          7  know, first, it's clear that everybody is feeling

          8  the pinch.  You, I, every New Yorker.  Certainly cab

          9  drivers are.  And the price of fuel has gone up.

         10  But in terms of a fare adjustment, there's a process

         11  that we have to go through.  And so far, we've

         12  received two petitions from two different industry

         13  groups.  The League of Mutual Taxi Owners, and also

         14  the Federation of Taxi Drivers.  These are groups

         15  that represent taxi drivers.

         16                 The way the process works, is they

         17  submit a petition requesting a surcharge or other

         18  fare increase.  I, as Chairperson, have 60 days to

         19  make a determination.  I can determine to reject it,

         20  or modify it.  Or forward it to the Board of

         21  Commissioners, that has the authority under the

         22  charter to make changes in the rate of fare.  The

         23  earliest petition that I received, I think the 60-

         24  day window expires at the beginning of July.  I

         25  think July 3rd. So on or before July 3rd, I will be
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          2  making a decision.  And staff is actively working on

          3  it.  We're gathering data about gas prices and other

          4  expenses, because you can't look at gas prices in a

          5  vacuum.  You have to look at also what they've been

          6  earning.  And also what other expenses they have.

          7  Have they gone up or gone down.  So it's our hope

          8  that we'll have a decision on it before July, and

          9  we'll keep you apprised of our progress.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you.

         11    Thank you Commissioner.  And a quick question from

         12  Council Member Brewer  -- one part please.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That was a

         14  good  --  I also had the same question.  But my

         15  other one is that in the taxis  -- now I'm talking

         16  primarily around the yellows, because the other ones

         17  are always better fit, in terms of the inside of the

         18  vehicle. There's just a lot of usage, I assume, of

         19  the air conditioning and the lights, et cetera.

         20  Which is a great addition for the passenger side.

         21  But they are often broken.  In other words, the

         22  light bulb is out, et cetera.  What's the inspection

         23    --  I'm not saying it's the driver's fault.  I

         24  don't know.  But I'm just saying it is a constant

         25  refrain.  Do you understand what I'm saying?

                                                            145

          1  FINANCE AND TRANSPORTATION

          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Well first of all,

          3  you know, we have inspections three times a year of

          4  the vehicles.  And it's standard operating procedure

          5  if the air conditioner is not working, it needs to

          6  be fixed, and the cab is not allowed to remain on

          7  the road until it is fixed.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But in between

          9  those three times a year  --

         10                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: In between those

         11  three times a year  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The light

         13  bulbs.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: There are two

         15  methods to help out with that problem.  Number one,

         16  we have field inspectors in the Police Department.

         17  When they stop taxicabs, that's one of the things

         18  that they look for.  And summonses are issued on the

         19  spot for those situations.  Probably the most direct

         20  way to enforce that is for the passenger complaint

         21  process.  You know, each year, around the time that

         22  it starts to get hot out, in the Summer months, we

         23  do receive complaints from passengers and the

         24  repercussions are not only fines and various actions

         25  taken against your license, but it also includes
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          2  requiring that the cabs fix them.  We haven't seen a

          3  rash of problems.  It hasn't come to the attention

          4  of my office.  We'd be happy to look into it with

          5  you, and you know  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm just

          7  saying that  -- it's not so much punitive, it's more

          8    --  I don't know, light bulbs, maybe they're hard

          9  to get.  I don't know.  But I'm just saying that

         10  it's the light that  --  I read.  Light bulbs  --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: The light  --  not

         12  the air conditioning, the light  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Both.  Often

         14  the air conditioning  --  I take a lot of taxis,

         15  subways, buses.  I don't have a car.  So what I'm

         16  saying is that since I'm probably in this mode of

         17  transportation more than anybody else, because I

         18  don't have a car.  So the question is,  --  I don't

         19  even need the air conditioning, but often the whole

         20  item is gone.  That's often.  And the lights  --

         21  many more times than is necessary, if there is a

         22  light above, it's out.  Because the bulb is not

         23  there.  There's a bulb that's dead.  Just like in

         24  your house.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: So I'm just saying
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          2  that it's  -- I'm not going to spend hours calling

          3  311 about this.  No way.  Nor is anybody else.  So

          4  I'm just saying as a way of discussing things with

          5  the operators of the medallions, you have to say now

          6  we have lights, that's a good thing.  Now we need

          7  light bulbs to go with the lights.  And I don't

          8  think they're thinking that way.  They're not in the

          9  back seat.  Nobody is going to call 311.  My guess

         10  is nobody has called 311 about this.  But there has

         11  to be more sensitivity to this.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Well, first of

         13  all, I'll talk to our enforcement deputy about this.

         14    I have to be honest, this is the first time I've

         15  heard a complaint since I've been at the TLC about

         16  that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know,

         18  because you're not in this cab as much as I am.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: I take cabs.  And

         20  I believe you.           COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:

         21  Okay.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: We'll look into

         23  it, and see if there's something we could do about

         24  it.  On the 311 issue, just to give you an example

         25  of how the government could work for you. First of
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          2  all, if you call 311, I think it is  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm aware  --

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: It would take

          5  literally seconds of your time.  All you have to do

          6  is give us the time, the date, and the number of the

          7  cab.  And even though you may not be able to come in

          8  and testify, we will call that cab in.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know all

         10  that.  I  --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: And we will fix

         12  it.  So there is a system, and it works, so I would

         13  just disagree with you, respectfully on that point.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Thank

         15  you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Commissioner,

         17  when you take cabs, do you do it anonymously?  Or do

         18  you identify yourself?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Always

         20  anonymously.  Sometimes they figure out who I am,

         21  and you know, I try to tip as best as I can on a

         22  government salary.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'd be happy to

         24  hear about some of those anecdotes, but for another

         25  hearing.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Sure.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: You're welcome.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Maybe we'll do an

          6  HBO series on it.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Chairman

          8  Confessions, right?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: With that, we're

         10  going to reconvene  --  the Finance and

         11  Transportation is now recessed, or adjourned.  And

         12  we're going to reconvene with the Committee on

         13  General Welfare, Chaired by Council Member Bill

         14  DeBlasio.  And the Committee on Women's Issues,

         15  Chaired by Helen Sears momentarily. We'll take a

         16  one- minute break while we're waiting for the

         17  Chairman.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 1:05 p.m.)
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